The Warburtons of Radcliffe

Last Updated 10th December 2021

©2019 to 2021 Ray Warburton

Table of Contents

Preface	2
Surnames	3
Descendants of William Warburton & Margaret	Barlow
First Generation	4
Second Generation	5
Third Generation	10
Fourth Generation	15
Fifth Generation	25
Sixth Generation	39
Seventh Generation	49
Place Index	52
Person Index	61

PREFACE

The Radcliffe clan was originally documented alongside the Haslingden clan, to which it is connected by marriage. The Utah branch of the Haslingden clan descended from this link.

The clan descends from William Warburton who was born arounf 1718 in Radcliffe, and includes an branch established in Trowbridge, Wiltshire by John Warburton (1776-1857) a popular preacher.

DNA also indicates the two clans have a common ancestor.

The Radcliffe tree includes input from David Clifford Warburton, Julia Frances, and Rosie Warburton.

Surnames

- A Aldridge, Ansell, Archard, Arnold, Astley, Aubrey
- **B** Bannister, Barlow, Barrett, Belson, Bennett, Bird, Boyce, Brice
- C Chadderton, Chandler, Condell, Cunningham
- **D** Damant, Daniels, Donovan, Dorrell
- **E** Edwards, Eyers
- F Featherstone, Francis
- **G** Gavitt, Gerrish, Gorton, Gregory, Grey
- H Haig, Hall, Hardy, Hayward, Hounslow, Huling
- J Jakeman, Johnson
- K Kenny, Kirkham, Kitchen
- L Lively, Looker
- M Millgrove, Milsted, Moore
- O Openshaw
- P Parker, Pearch, Phillips, Pitfield, Pollett, Potter
- R Ralfe, Randle, Reason, Richardson, Rudman
- S Sandford, Sligoe, Smith, Summerskill
- T Turnbull, Turner, Tweedall
- **U** Unsworth
- W Waltham, Warburton, Webb, Webster, Wigley, Williams, Winward, Woodley, Wright

Descendants of William Warburton & Margaret Barlow

First Generation

1. William Warburton. William was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, abt 1718. William died in 1777. He was buried in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 13 Feb 1777.

An IGI Ancestry file shows William as the son of John Warburton and Esther Walker who married on 7th May 1700 at Radcliffe, St Mary. An earlier version of this file showed John was baptised in 1669 the son of Robert and Jane nee Taylor who married in Bury on 1st October 1664. However these details are no longer present.

Also William's baptism isn't in on-line parish records at Radcliffe, or elsewhere in Lancashire between 1700 and 1735 with a father named John. There is a baptism at Radcliffe on 4th May 1718, father William, and this is the only one that fits with the marriage to Margaret Barlow in 1749.

The children were all baptised at Radcliffe, the children of William and Margaret, starting after William's marriage date. William is described as a husbandman on their baptisms.

On 28 Mar 1749 when William was 31, he married **Margaret Barlow** in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire. William is a husbandman and both are from Radcliffe. Margaret was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, abt 1725. She was buried in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 13 Feb 1777.

They had the following children:

- **2** i. **George Warburton** (1749-1796)
 - ii. **Mary Warburton**. Mary was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, in 1751. She was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 1 Sep 1751.
 - iii. **James Warburton**. James was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, in 1753. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 29 Jul 1753.
 - James has not been explored.
 - iv. Anne Warburton. Anne was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, in 1754. She was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 23 Dec 1754.
 - v. **Alice Warburton**. Alice was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, in 1757. She was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 14 Aug 1757.
 - vi. **Margaret Warburton**. Margaret was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, in 1759. She was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 30 Dec 1759.
- **3** vii. **William Warburton** (1762-1837)
 - viii. **Hester Warburton**. Hester was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, in 1765. She was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 5 May 1765.
 - ix. John Warburton. John was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, in 1769. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 3 Dec 1769.
 - John has not been explored.

Descendants of William Warburton & Margaret Barlow

Second Generation

2. George Warburton (*William*¹). George was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, in 1749. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 31 Dec 1749. George died in Whitefield, Lancashire, in 1796. He was buried in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire, on 25 May 1796.

George son of William is the best fit for the husband of Esther Sligoe based on his age, and the proximity of Radcliffe and Whitefield. All other Georges born at that time were baptised at Bury, or further afield.

George was a miller at Kersal water mill in the 1780s and 1790s (information from Oliver Cook). His abode on the baptism of three of his last four sons is given as Kelsall.

On 14 Jul 1772 when George was 23, he first married **Esther Sligoe** in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire. Both George and Esther were from Whitefield. Esther died bef 1790.

Neither Esther's baptism nor burial have been found.

They had the following children:

- i. **Sarah Warburton**. Sarah was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, in 1772. She was christened in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire, on 20 Dec 1772.
- ii. Ralph Warburton. Ralph was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, in 1774. He was christened in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire, on 11 Dec 1774. Ralph died in Whitefield, Lancashire, in 1776. He was buried in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire, on 4 Feb 1776.
- 4 iii. **John Warburton** (1776-1857)
 - iv. **Peggy Warburton**. Peggy was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, in 1778. She was christened in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire, on 5 Jul 1778.

Peggy's marriage has not been found, but she was a widow called Peggy Pitfield in the 1851 census, living with a daughter, and brother William.

Peggy married Pitfield.

- 5 v. **Ralph Warburton** (1780-1848)
 - vi. **William Warburton**. William was born in Kersal, Lancashire, in 1782. He was christened in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire, on 25 Dec 1782. William died in Kersal, Lancashire, in 1783. He was buried in Prestwich, Lancashire, on 5 Sep 1783.
 - vii. William Warburton. William was born in Kersal, Lancashire, in 1784. He was christened in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire, on 8 Aug 1784. Census for Pilkington, Lancashire, in 1841. William (55) is a cotton weaver living at Chapelfield with Ann (65), and Mary Hough (40). William's relationship with Ann is uncertain. Census for Pilkington, Lancashire, in 1851. William (66) is a widowed hand loom

weaver living in Whitefield with his widowed sister Peggy Pitfield (74) who is receiving parish relief, and her unmarried daughter Leah Pitfield (46) a hand loom weaver. William died in Pilkington, Lancashire, in 1863.

William is probably the William whose death was registered in 3q 1863 Bury 8c 286, aged 79, sub district Pilkington. (LancashireBMD).

He has not been investigated beyond the two census entries so it is not known who his wife was, or if he had children.

On 19 Apr 1790 when George was 41, he second married **Elisabeth (Betty) Hardy** in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire. Both George and Betty Hardy were 'of this parish'.

It is not known what happenned to Betty after George died.

They had the following children:

- i. **George Warburton**. George was born in Alkrington, Lancashire, in 1791. He was christened in Middleton, St Leonard, Lancashire, on 2 Feb 1791.
 - George's mother is betty on his baptism. His fathr is a Miller.
- ii. **Robert Warburton**. Robert was born in Kersal, Lancashire, in 1793. He was christened in Middleton, St Leonard, Lancashire, on 14 Apr 1793.

Robert's mother is Elizabeth on his baptiem. His father is a miller.

3. William Warburton (*William*¹). William was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, in 1762. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 6 Jul 1762. William died on 3 Feb 1837.

IGI submissions have both the 24th June and 6th July as baptism dates, but the parish register confirms the latter.

Seven children are named in an IGI submission. Eight baptisms and two burials have been found in the parish records. On all of these bar one William is a Whitster, but on Sally's baptism he is a weaver. One burial, the first Samuel, has no matching baptism.

As details from Richard's descendant David Clifford Warburton give his place of birth as Whitefield it is assumed all the children were born there, though in fact Whitefield was part of Pilkington and in Prestwich parish. The Radcliffe parish records don't give abode.

Abt 1780 when William was 18, he married **Mary Pollett**. William's marriage to Mary Pollett is only known from IGI submissions, and their grandson Joseph's submission to the Genealogical Society of Utah, in which he gets his own father's date of birth wrong. Mary was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, on 12 Dec 1756. Mary died on 27 Apr 1841.

Mary was the daughter of Thomas and Elizabeth Pollett.

They had the following children:

- 6 i. Richard Warburton (1785-)
 - ii. **John Warburton**. John was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, on 6 Feb 1786. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 8 Mar 1786.
 - John has not been studied further but he doesn't apear to be present in the 1851 census.
 - iii. Samuel Warburton. Samuel was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, abt 1788. Samuel died on 3 Jan 1795. He was buried in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 4 Jan 1795.
 - Samuel's baptism hasn't been found in parish records, and the date is from the IGI submission.
 - iv. Betty Warburton. Betty was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, on 19 Apr 1789. She was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 27 Apr 1789. Betty died in Whitefield, Lancashire, on 28 Jan 1795. She was buried in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 30 Jan 1795.
 - Betty is not mentioned in the IGI submission. She died a month after her brother Samuel, possibly of the same cause.
 - v. **Sarah Warburton**. Sarah was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, on 30 Aug 1790. She was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 12 Sep 1790. Sarah died in Pilkington, Lancashire, on 25 Dec 1850.
 - Eva Proctor's history says Sarah was a widow when she married James Warburton. However her son Joseph, in his submission to the Genealogical Society of Utah, says she was born a Warburton, and IGI has her pedigree.

Joseph's submission to the Genealogical Society of Utah gives her birth date as August 30th 1780. However this is dubious because she would be over 50 when Joseph was born, and her father would be only 18 when she was born. The IGI submission has the same date but in 1790. There is a corresponding baptism record for Sally, which is an alternative for Sarah, but it gives her date of birth as September 1st.

Sarah's date of death is from Eva Proctor. Her death registration is in 4q 1850 Bury 21 227, age 61.

On 26 Feb 1810 when Sarah was 19, she married **James Warburton** in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire. James was born in Haslingden, Lancashire, on 18 Apr 1784. He was christened in Haslingden, St James, Lancashire, on 30 May 1784. ■

Census for Pilkington, Lancashire, in 1841. Jas (50) is a bleacher living in Peel St with Sally (50), E (26) a bleacher, John (20) a bleacher, Betty (15), Joseph (10), and John (5). Note although E(dward), John and Joseph fit well with James and Sarah's children, Betty and the second John do not fit. John is probably a grandson (i.e. son of William). Betty is more problematical as James and Sarah's daughter Elizabeth died aged 1 month in 1827. Possibly they had a second daughter whose baptism has yet to be found. In the 1851 census Betty is a year younger than Elizabeth would have been. ■ Census for Pilkington, Lancashire, in 1851. James (74) is a widowed cotton carder living in Stand Lane with Joseph (20) a dyer, and Betty (22) a spinner, plus 3 lodgers. Although James's age is high the rest seems to fit. James died in Pilkington, Lancashire, on 19 Apr 1851.

The 1841 and 1851 census entries seem to fit based on the presence of his children, and indicate James lived until after 1851, though they are not without contradictions. The 1851 census entry gives his date and place of birth as circa 1777 in Pilkington, Lancashire. His 1841 entry would suggest he was 10 years younger.

However his son Joseph, in his submission to the Genealogical Society of Utah, says his father was born on April 18th 1784, in Haslingden. This date fits with the baptism date of James son of Henry Warburton and Alice Thredfield of Haslingden.

His probable death registration is 2q 1851 Bury 21 239, age 70, sub-district Pilkington (LancashireBMD). This is the only James registered in that quarter.

The descendants of James and Sarah are detailed in the Haslingden Clan.

vi. **George Warburton**. George was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, on 4 Jul 1792. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 5 Aug 1792.

George has not been investigated further but there is a pauper of the right age, born in Radcliffe. in the 1851 census.

vii. **Samuel Warburton**. Samuel was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, on 11 Dec 1795. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 3 Jan 1796.

Samuel was born the same year as the first Samuel was buried. He hasn't been explored further but there is a Samuel of the right age, born in Pilkington, in the 1851 census.

viii. **Peter Warburton**. Peter was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, on 5 Jan 1798. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 25 Feb 1798.

Peter has not been investigated further but there is a Peter of the right age, born in Radcliffe with his family in the 1851 census.

ix. **David Warburton**. David was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, in 1800. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 26 Oct 1800.

The on-line image of David's baptism is indistinct but the date is recorded on FamilySearch. David has not been investigated further but there is a David of the right age, born in Lancashire, living in Middlesex in the 1851 census who might be him.

Descendants of William Warburton & Margaret Barlow Third Generation

4. John Warburton (*George*², *William*¹). John was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, in 1776. He was christened in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire, on 24 Nov 1776. ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1851. John (74) is baptist minister of Zion Chapel, living with Lydia (74), and unmarried daughters Rachel (44) and Ruth (37). John died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1857. He was buried in Trowbridge Cemetery, Wiltshire, on 2 Apr 1857.

In the 1851 census John is aged 74 and born in Pilkington. The son of George and Esther of Whitefield is an exact match on age and Whitefield is part of the township of Pilkington, in the parish of Prestwich.

John moved to Trowbridge around 1800. In 1813 41 people seceded from the Back Street Baptist chapel because they disapproved of the doctrines of the new minister, and subsequently built the Zion Chapel. Their first permanent pastor was John Warburton, a Lancashire weaver. He was a very popular preacher, wrote a Christian classic (The Mercies of a Covenant God) and was one of the 3 founders of the Gospel Standard Baptist Churches. He remained their preacher until his death in 1857.

John's death was registered in 2q 1857 Melksham 5a 75, aged 80. His age is confirmed by the Wiltshire Memorial Inscription Index.

On 29 Dec 1795 when John was 19, he married **Lydia Sandford** in Prestwich, Lancashire. Lydia was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, abt 1777. Lydia died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1862. She was buried in Trowbridge Cemetery, Wiltshire, on 21 May 1862.

Lydia was the wife of John, aged 85, in the Wiltshire Memorial Inscription Index.

Third Generation

They had the following children:

- 7 i. William Warburton (1796-1864)
- 8 ii. **James Warburton** (1800-1874)
 - iii. **Elizabeth Warburton**. Elizabeth was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, on 20 Nov 1801. She was christened in Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshire, on 20 Nov 1801.

On 13 Jan 1825 when Elizabeth was 23, she married **John Hayward** in Trowbridge, St James, Wiltshire.

iv. **Leah Warburton**. Leah was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, on 16 Apr 1804. She was christened in Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshire, in 1804.

On 26 Mar 1823 when Leah was 18, she married **Isaac Moore** in Trowbridge, St James, Wiltshire.

- v. **Rachel Warburton**. Rachel was born in Pilkington, Lancashire, on 16 Jun 1806. She was christened in Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshire, in 1806.
- 9 vi. **Gideon Warburton** (1808-1879)
 - vii. **Manoah Warburton**. Manoah was born on 23 Jan 1811. He was christened in Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshire, in 1811. Manoah died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1839.

Manoah's death was registered in 4q 1839 Melksham 8 236, aged 28 (Wiltshire BMD).

On 26 Apr 1835 when Manoah was 24, he married **Susannah Belson** in St Pancras, Old Church, Middlesex.

- viii. **Ruth Warburton**. Ruth was born in Rochdale, Lancashire, on 27 Oct 1813. She was christened in Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshire, in 1813.
- **10** ix. **John Warburton** (1815-1892)
 - x. **Rhoda Warburton**. Rhoda was born in Jul 1817. She was christened in Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshire, in 1817. Rhoda died in 1820. She was buried in Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshire, in 1820.
- **5. Ralph Warburton** (*George*², *William*¹). Ralph was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, in 1780. He was christened in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire, on 27 Aug 1780. Census for Whitefield, Lancashire, in 1841. Ralph (60) is a hand weaver living in Whitefield with Alice (60), James (32), Alice (20), Sarah (18). Ralph died in Whitefield, Lancashire, in 1848. He was buried in Stand, All Saints, Lancashire, on 10 Dec 1848.

The exact extent of Ralph's family is unknown. Three presumed children are present in the 1841 census, and there is a baptism record at Stand Lane Presbyterian Chapel for twins Betty and Simeon, in which Ralph is a weaver from Whitebrook, suggesting their other children also had



Presbyterian baptisms, but they were unrecorded.

Nothing further has been found about the children.

Ralph was buried aged 67 years. His death was registered in 4q 1848 Bury 21 201, aged 67, sub-district Pilkington (LancashireBMD).

On 11 Oct 1801 when Ralph was 21, he married **Alice Astley** in Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire. Alice and Ralph were both from Whitefield.

They had the following children:

- i. James Warburton. James was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, abt 1809.
 - James has not been identified in censuses after 1841.
- ii. **Betty Warburton**. Betty was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, on 21 Jun 1815. She was christened in Radclife, Stand Lane Chapel, Lancashire, on 23 Jun 1815.
- iii. **Simeon Warburton**. Simeon was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, on 21 Jun 1815. He was christened in Radclife, Stand Lane Chapel, Lancashire, on 23 Jun 1815.

Simeon has not been found in censuses.

- iv. Alice Warburton. Alice was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, abt 1821.
- v. Sarah Warburton. Sarah was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, abt 1823.
- **6. Richard Warburton** (*William*², *William*¹). Richard was born in Whitefield, Lancashire, on 16 Feb 1785. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 27 Feb 1785. Census for Kearsley, Lancashire, in 1841. Richard (55) is a labourer living in Hulbert Square with Mary (40), James (15) a crofter, Margaret (3) and Samuel (3 months).

Richard was only known from the IGI submission, until I made contact with his descendant David Clifford Warburton, who provided details of his descent, which I have expanded. In addition I was given getails of Richard's eldest son James's descendants by Julia Francis.

His date of death is unknown. It was before 1861 when Mary is a widow, and probally before 1851 when Mary and 2 of her children are living in Derbyshire, although she is desribed as married.

On 1 Jan 1806 when Richard was 20, he first married **Esther Bennett** in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire. Richard was a whister, and both were 'of this parish'. Esther was born abt 1785. Esther died in Kearsley, Lancashire, in 1834. She was buried in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 16 Feb 1834.

Third Generation

They had the following children:

 Hannah Warburton. Hannah was born on 18 Aug 1808. She was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 25 Sep 1808.

Father's occupation on Hannah's baptism record is whitster (bleacher).

ii. John Warburton. John was born on 1 Dec 1810. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 13 Jan 1811. John died on 4 May 1812. He was buried in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 7 May 1812.

Father's occupation on John's baptism and burial records is whitster (bleacher).

iii. **Betty Warburton**. Betty was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, on 4 Jan 1814. She was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 20 Feb 1814.

Father's occupation on Betty's baptism record is whitster (bleacher).

- 11 iv. Joseph Warburton (1816-)
 - v. **Thomas Warburton**. Thomas was born in Kearsley, Lancashire, on 6 Aug 1818. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 20 Sep 1818.

Father's occupation on Thomas's baptism record is whitster (bleacher).

Thomas has not been found in any census but there is no obvious death registration either.

vi. **Mary Warburton**. Mary was born in Ringley, Lancashire, on 1 Dec 1820. She was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 28 Jan 1821.

Father's occuation on Mary's baptism record is whitster (bleacher).

vii. **Peter Warburton**. Peter was born in Kearsley, Lancashire, on 31 Jan 1823. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 30 Mar 1823. Peter died in Kearsley, Lancashire, in May 1829. He was buried in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 24 May 1829.

Father's occupation on Peter's baptism record is crofter (a bleacher of cloth).

12 viii. **James Warburton** (1826-1879)

On 9 Oct 1836 when Richard was 51, he second married **Mary Openshaw** in Eccles, St Mary the Virgin, Lancashire. Mary was born in 1802. She was christened in Little Lever, St Matthew, Lancashire, on 18 Apr 1802. Census for Simmondley, Derbyshire, in 1851. Mary Warbutton (Warlutton in Ancestry) aged 50 is a paper sorter, described as married, and lodging in Charlestown with Thomas Clarke, together with Samuel (10) a wool tenter, and Sarah (7). Census for Farnworth, Lancashire, in 1861. Mary Warbutton (Warbritton in Ancestry) aged 58 is a widow living in King Street with Samuel (20) a cotton worker (stripper and grinder), and Sarah A (15) a cotton worker (rover).

_			- 1		_					4			
	n	ш	ra	-	<i>1</i> _:	Δ	n	Δ	ra	ıtı	\sim	'n	ı
		ш	ıv	١,	L٦	C		┌.		ш		,, ,	

Mary's parents were John and Mary who were living next door to Mary in the 1841 census. John was a paper maker and this may explain Mary's stepson James's change of occupation.

They had the following children:

- i. **Margaret Warburton**. Margaret was born in Kearsley, Lancashire, in 1838. She was christened in Ringley, St Saviour, Lancashire, on 25 Mar 1838.
 - Margaret's birth was registered in 1q 1838 Bolton 21 153, mother's maiden name Openshaw. Her father's occupation on her baptism record is bleacher.
- **13** ii. **Samuel Warburton** (1841-1907)
 - iii. **Sarah Ellen Warburton**. Sarah Ellen was born in Kearsley, Lancashire, in 1845. She was christened in Ringley, St Saviour, Lancashire, on 5 Jul 1845.

Sarah's birth was registered in 3q 1845 Bolton 21 160, mother's maiden name Openshaw. Her father's occupation on her baptism record is labourer.

Descendants of William Warburton & Margaret Barlow

Fourth Generation

7. William Warburton (*John*³, *George*², *William*¹). William was born in Pilkington, Lancashire, in 1796. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 21 Feb 1796. ■ Census for Rochdale, Lancashire, in 1841. William (45) is a power loom weaver living at Tong End with Hannah (40), Lydia (16) and Sarah (13) both power loom weavers, and Sarah Howarth (3). ■ Census for Spotland, Lancashire, in 1851. William (55) is a power weaver living at Whitworth with Hannah (52), Lydia (25) an unmarried power weaver, and three grandchildren Roda (2), Alice (1 mth), and John (5). ■ Census for Wardleworth, Lancashire, in 1861. William (64) is a widowed power loom weaver living with his married daughter Hannah Smith (36) a power loom weaver, in Alma Street. Also present is Hannah's nephew John Warburton (15) a warehouseman. William died in Rochdale, Lancashire, in 1864.

William is identified as the son of John and Lydia because of his age, and the naming of his daughter Lydia. His death was registered in 1q 1864 Rochdale 8e 53, aged 68, district Wardleworth (Lancashire BMD).

William and Hannah had their four children baptised together at Hope chapel. The record shows them living in Mountpleasant, Wardleworth. William is a weaver. Hannah's maiden name is Tweedale (sic). Samuel's date of birth is given as December 1830 although the baptism was on October 8th.

The identities of the 3 grandchildren in the 1851 census have not been determined as no consistent records have been found. There is no registration of a Roda, but there is an Amanda at the right time and place. Both she and Alice have mother's maiden name Warburton so they may be illegitimate daughters of Lydia or Sarah. The closest John has a mother's maiden name of Chadwick, but there is no matching marriage to a son of William.

On 30 Jul 1815 when William was 19, he married **Hannah Tweedall** in Middleton, St Leonard, Lancashire. William was a weaver. Hannah was born in Wardleworth, Lancashire, abt 1797. Hannah died in Rochdale, Lancashire, in 1859.

Hannah's death was registered in 3q 1859 Rochdale 8e 29, aged 61, district Wardleworth (Lancashire BMD).

They had the following children:

- Hannah Warburton. Hannah was born in Wardleworth, Lancashire, on 11 Jan 1824. She was christened in Rochdale, Hope Chapel, Lancashire, on 8 Oct 1830.
 - On 4 Jun 1843 when Hannah was 19, she married **David Smith** in Rochdale, St Chad, Lancashire. David and Hannah were minors residing in Spotland, fathers James Smith and William Warburton, both weavers.
- ii. Lydia Warburton. Lydia was born in Wardleworth, Lancashire, on 30 Jan 1826. She was christened in Rochdale, Lancashire, on 6 Mar 1826. She was christened in Rochdale, Hope Chapel, Lancashire, on 8 Oct 1830.
 - Lydia was probably baptised twice. There is a baptism in Rochdale shortly after her birth though her mother's name is Ann. She and her three siblings were then baptised in Hope Chapel (Peculiar baptist) in 1830.
- iii. **Sarah Warburton**. Sarah was born in Wardleworth, Lancashire, on 12 May 1828. She was christened in Rochdale, Hope Chapel, Lancashire, on 8 Oct 1830.
- Samuel Warburton. Samuel was born in Wardleworth, Lancashire, on 13 Dec 1830. He was christened in Rochdale, Hope Chapel, Lancashire, on 8 Oct 1830.
 - The Hope chapel record lists Samuel as being baptised 2 months before his birth. Quite what this means is unclear. He doesn't appear in any censuses but no death record has been found.
- **8. James Warburton** (*John*³, *George*², *William*¹). James was born in Pilkington, Lancashire, on 10 Aug 1800. He was christened in Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshire, in 1800. Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1841. James (40) is a weaver living in Shails Lane with Martha (45), James (17), and John Milgrove (3). Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1851. James (48) is a cloth weaver living in Shails Lane with Martha (56) and grandsons John (13), and Frederick (11).
- Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1861. James (62) is a trolley weaver living in the High Street with Martha (67) a winder. Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1871. James (72) is a widowed annuitant living alone in Shails Lane (but close to grandson John and his family). James died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1874.

James is assumed to have been born in Pilkington because he was not born in Wiltshire on the 1841 census. His death was registered in 4q 1874 Melksham 5a 77, aged 75.

On 28 Mar 1819 when James was 18, he married **Martha Edwards** in Trowbridge, St James, Wiltshire. Martha was born abt 1795. Martha died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1868.

Martha's death was registered in 2q 1868 Melksham 5a 72, aged 74.

They had the following children:

- **14** i. **John Warburton** (1819-1899)
- **15** ii. **James Warburton** (1825-1892)
- **9. Gideon Warburton** (*John*³, *George*², *William*¹). Gideon was born in Rochdale, Lancashire, on 14 Sep 1808. He was christened in Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshire. Census for Islington, Middlesex, in 1851. Gideon (42) is an ironmonger's clerk living at 1 Anns Terrace with Ann Ellis (42), Henry Gideon (19) a pianoforte tuner, and neice Eliza Flemming (8). Census for St Pancras, Middlesex, in 1861. Gideon (51) is a traveller in metals living at 3 Northampton Cottage with Ann E (52), and lodger Adolphus White (30) a professor of music. Census for St Pancras, Middlesex, in 1871. Gideon (62) is a commercial traveller in hardware living at 56 Albert Street with Ann E (62). Gideon died in St Pancras, Middlesex, in 1879.

Gideon's death was registered in 1q 1879 Islington 1b 289, aged 70.

On 3 Sep 1829 when Gideon was 20, he married **Ann Ellis Wigley** in Westminster, St Marylebone, Middlesex.

They had one child:

- **16** i. **Henry Gideon Warburton** (~1832-1872)
- **10. John Warburton** (*John*³, *George*², *William*¹). John was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, on 4 Aug 1815. He was christened in Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshire, in 1815. Census for Southill, Bedfordshire, in 1851. John (35) is a baptist minister living in Chapel House with Emma (33), John (10), Lydia (7), Ebanezer (5), and Manoah (2). Census for Southill, Bedfordshire, in 1861. John (45) is a baptist minister living with Emma (43), Lydia (17) a dressmaker, Ebanezer (15) a miller (apprentice?), Manoah (12), Phineas (8), Ruth (6), Elizabeth (1), and visitor Henry Mitchell (47). Census for Southill, Bedfordshire, in 1871. John (55) is a baptist minister living in the Baptist Minister's House with Emma (53), Manoah (22) a grocer, Phineas (18) a schoolmaster, Ruth (15), Elizabeth (11), and a servant. John died in 1892.

John's death was registered in 1q 1892 Biggleswade 3b 295, aged 76.

In 1838 when John was 22, he married **Emma Rudman** in Trowbridge, St James, Wiltshire. The marriage was registered in 3q 1838 Melksham 8 452.

They had the following children:

i. **John Warburton**. John was born in City of London, in 1840.

John's birth was registered in 2q 1840 East London 2 208, mother's maiden name Rudman.

John appears in censuses as a Solicitor with a wife, Mary, 2 daughters and a son. He has yet to be explored in detail.

ii. Lydia Warburton. Lydia was born in City of London, in 1843.

Lydia's birth was registerd in 3q 1843 St Marylebone 1 149, mother's maiden name Rudman.

iii. **Ebenezer Warburton**. Ebenezer was born in Southill, Bedfordshire, in 1846.

Ebenezer's birth was registered in 1q 1846 Biggleswade 6 55, mother's maiden name Rudman.

Ebenezer appears in all censuses to 1911 where he is a miller and farmer in Southill having been married to Harriet Elizabeth for 41 years and had 11 children, 8 still living. He has yet to be explored in detail.

iv. **William Warburton**. William was born in Southill, Bedfordshire, in 1848. William died in Southill, Bedfordshire, in 1848.

William's birth and death were registered in 1q 1848 Biggleswade 6 59, and 6 57, mother's maiden name Rudman.

v. **Manoah Warburton**. Manoah was born in Southill, Bedfordshire, in 1849. Manoah died in 1938.

Manoah's birth was registered in 1q 1849 Biggleswade 6 60, mother's maiden name Rudman. His death was registered in 4g 1938 Biggleswade 3b 347, aged 89.

In the 1911 census Manoah is a grocer in Kent having been married to Jane Eliza for 31 years, but had no children. He has not been explored further.

On 17 Jul 1879 when Manoah was 30, he married **Jane Eliza Turner** in Henlow, Bedfordshire.

vi. Phineas Warburton. Phineas was born in Southill, Bedfordshire, in 1852.

Phineas's birth was registered in 3q 1552 Biggleswade 3b 315, mother's maiden name Rudman.

In the 1911 census Phineas is a schoolmaster who has been married to Carrie Axford for 19 years and had one son, John Axford aged 18. Phineas and Carrie were recorded in the New York census in 1892. Carrie is American and John was

born in America. Phineas has yet to be documented further.

vii. Ruth Warburton. Ruth was born in Southill, Bedfordshire, in 1855.

Ruth's birth was registered in 1q 1855 Biggleswade 3b 339, mother's maiden name Rudman.

viii. Elizabeth Warburton. Elizabeth was born in Southill, Bedfordshire, in 1859.

Elizabeth's birth was registered in 4q 1859 Biggleswade 3b 345, mother's maiden name Rudman.

11. Joseph Warburton (*Richard*³, *William*², *William*¹). Joseph was born in Radcliffe, Lancashire, on 16 Mar 1816. He was christened in Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire, on 5 May 1816. ■ Census for Manchester, Lancashire, in 1841. Joseph (25) is a bleacher living in Back Drinkwater Street with Mary (20) a rag cutter, and Jane (3). ■ Census for Whitfield, Glossop, Derbyshire, in 1851. Joseph (35) is a farmer of 35 acres living at Whitfield Leach with Mary (30), Jane (13), Henry (7), Enoch (4), Samuel (2), and Eliza (3 mths).

Father's occupation on Joseph's baptism record is whitster (bleacher).

None of the family can be found in the 1861 or subsequent censuses so they possibly emigrated.

On 30 Oct 1836 when Joseph was 20, he married **Mary Chadderton** in Eccles, St Mary the Virgin, Lancashire. Mary was born in Harpurhey, Lancashire, in 1820. She was christened in Manchester Cathedral, Lancashire, on 24 Dec 1820.

Mary was the daughter of Jonathan Chadderton of Manchester, a paper maker. Harpurhey is just north of Manchester.

Mary is the most likely candidate for the Mary who married Joseph because she is the correct age, from roughly the right place, and married in the same church used by Joseph's father for his marriage to Mary Openshaw three weeks earlier.

They had the following children:

i. Jane Warburton. Jane was born in Harpurhey, Lancashire, in 1838.

Jane's birth was registered in 1q 1838 Manchester 20 354, mother's maiden name Chadderton.

ii. Henry Warburton. Henry was born in Smedley, Manchester, Lancashire, in 1844.

Henry's birth was registered in 1q 1844 Manchester 20 611, mother's maiden name Chadderton. He has not been investigated further.

iii. Samuel Warburton. Samuel was born in Glossop, Derbyshire, in 1847.

Samuel's birth was registered in 2q 1847 Hayfield 19 617, mother's maiden name Chatterton (sic). He has not been investigated further.

iv. **Enoch Warburton**. Enoch was born in Glossop, Derbyshire, in 1849.

Enoch's birth was registered in 2q 1849 Hayfield 19 617, mother's maiden name Chadderton. The 1851 census has him aged 4 and born in Smedley, Manchester so Enoch and Samuel's ages were probably mixed up. He has not been investigated further.

v. Eliza Warburton. Eliza was born in Glossop, Derbyshire, in 1851.

Eliza's birth was registered in 1q 1851 Hayfield 19 617, mother's maiden name Chatterton (sic).

12. James Warburton (*Richard*³, *William*², *William*¹). James was born in Kearsley, Lancashire, on 9 Aug 1826. He was christened in Ringley, St Saviour, Lancashire, on 10 Aug 1826. Census for Kearsley, Lancashire, in 1851. James (24) is a bleacher living at Black Forest Green (Crompton Houses) with Alice (24) and Robert (1). Census for Alton, Staffordshire, in 1861. James (33) is a paper maker living at Bottom of Bank with Mary (27), Robert (11), Thomas (6), Maria Ann (4), Mary Ester (2), and Joseph (11 mths). Census for Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, in 1871. James (43) is a paper maker living with Mary (37)), Thomas (16) employed at paperworks, Maria A (14), Mary E (12), Elizabeth (8), Hannah (6), Joseph (4), James (3), and William H (1). James died in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, on 19 May 1879.

James was baptised twice, once at Ringley the day after he was born (father's occupation described as labourer), and again at St Mary, Radcliffe, on 23rd February1834, aged 7. This was shortly after his mother's death. On this occasion his father was described as a crofter (a bleacher of cloth). Possibly the first baptism was rushed because he was considered sickly, but having survived, his father was minded to have him done properly after his mother's death.

James's death was registered in 2g 1879 Abingdon 2c 203, aged 51.

On 26 Aug 1849 when James was 23, he first married Alice Reason in Deane, St Mary, Bolton,

Lancashire. James was a crofter from Halliwell, father Richard, a husbandman. Alice was from Halliwell, father George, a weaver. The marriage was registered in 3q 1849 Bolton 21 118. Alice was born in Halliwell, Lancashire, abt 1827. Alice died in 1852.

Alice's death was registered in 2q 1852 Bolton 8c 110, age 26, sub-district Farnworth (Lancashire BMD).

They had one child:

17 i. **Robert Warburton** (1850-1928)

In 1854 when James was 27, he second married **Mary Hester Kitchen** in Durham. Mary Hester was born in Durham in 1835. ■ Census for Reading, Berkshire, in 1881. Mary (46) is a fancy shopkeeper living at 107 Friar Street with James (13), Wm Hry (11) a shop boy, Richard G (9), Florence J (7), Charles O (5), and John B (2). Mary Hester died in Reading, Berkshire, in 1888.

Mary's death registration has not been found.

They had the following children:

- i. Thomas Ernest Warburton (1855-1901)
 - Maria Ann Warburton. Maria Ann was born in Hope, Flintshire, in Dec 1857. Maria Ann died in Montréal, Quebec, Canada, in 1940.

Maria's birth was registered in 1q 1857 Wrexham 11b 281, mother's maiden name Kitchen.

In 1877 when Maria Ann was 19, she married **Lacey Robert Johnson**. The marriage was registered in 2q 1877 Abingdon 2c 525. Lacey Robert was born in Abingdon, Berkshire, in 1855.

iii. Mary Ester Warburton. Mary Ester was born in Hope, Flintshire, in 1858. Mary Ester died in Jun 1936.

Mary's birth was registered in 3q 1858 Wrexham 11b 276, mother's maiden name Kitchen. Mary was known as Tess.

In 1890 Tess sailed from Liverpool to Montreal on the Circassian. She married and had 3 childrem and was living in Vancouver in 1901. After her husband's death she returned to England in 1907 on Lake Manitoba, with her children, and was living with her brother William in 1911 in Reading.

Her death was registered in 2q 1936 Surrey NW 2a 390, aged 74.

On 20 Jun 1891 when Mary Ester was 33, she married **Thomas Hurdis Condell** in Portage La Prairie, Manitoba. Thomas and Mary had 3 children. Thomas Hurdis

died in 1904.

iv. Elizabeth Warburton. Elizabeth was born in Barnsley, Yorkshire, in 1862.

Elizabeth's birth was registered in 2q 1862 Barnsley 9c 137, mother's maiden name Kilson (sic). She was already a widow by 1901 and had probably remarried by the 1911 census. She has not been investigated further.

In 1881 when Elizabeth was 19, she married **Edward Williams**. The marriage was registered in 1q 1881 Reading 2c 486. Elizabeth and Edward had 4 sons and a daughter recorded in censuses. Edward was born in Abingdon, Berkshire, abt 1860.

v. Hannah Warburton. Hannah was born in Barnsley, Yorkshire, abt 1864.

Hannah's birth registration has not been identified at Barnsley or elsewhere...

In 1889 when Hannah was 25, she married **Thomas Alfred Summerskill** in Onterio, Canada. Thomas Alfred was born in Grimsby, Lincolnshire, in 1859.

- **19** vi. **Joseph Warburton** (1866-1939)
 - vii. **James Warburton**. James was born in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, on 6 Aug 1867. James died in Vancouver, British Columbia, on 1 Jan 1951. He was buried in Vancouver, Mountainview Cemetery, BC.

James's birth was registered in 3q 1867 Abingdon 2c 285, mother's maiden name Kitchen. James never married.

- 20 viii. William Henry Warburton (1869-1935)
- 21 ix. Richard Ernest Warburton (1871-1916)
 - x. Florence Jane Warburton. Florence Jane was born in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, in 1873.

Florence's birth was registered in 4q 1873 Abingdon 2c 285, mother's maiden name Kitching (sic). Her death registreation has not been identified.

On 16 Mar 1899 when Florence Jane was 26, she married **Hedley Thomas Richardson** in Vancouver, British Columbia. Hedley Thomas was born in Hackney,

Middlesex, in 1858. Hedley Thomas died in Bradfield, Berkshire, in Dec 1922.

- 22 xi. Charles Owen Warburton (1875-1943)
 - xii. John Bennett Warburton. John Bennett was born in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, in 1878. Census for Swindon, Wiltshire, in 1891. John B (12) is staying with his sister Elizabeth Edwards (27) and her family. John Bennett died in Wellingborough, Northamptonshire, in Dec 1946.

John's birth was registered in 3q 1878 Abingdon 2c 315, mother's maiden name Kitchen. His death was registered in 4q 1946 Wellingborough 3b 595, aged 68. No marriage registration has been found, and he has not been found in the 1901 or

1911 censuses.

13. Samuel Warburton (*Richard*³, *William*², *William*¹). Samuel was born in Kearsley, Lancashire, on 25 Mar 1841. He was christened in Ringley, St Saviour, Lancashire, on 29 Mar 1841. ■ Census for Lostock, Lancashire, in 1881. Samuel (40) is a carder - cotton factory, living in Chew Moor Village with Elizabeth (29) a frametender, and Mary (5 mths). ■ Census for Westhoughton, Lancashire, in 1891. Samuel (50) is a widowed cotton carder living at 302 Church Street with Mary (10), Samuel (8), Percy (7), and Sarah (6). ■ Census for Walton Le Dale, Lancashire, in 1901. Samuel (60) is a retired overlooker of the cotton card room living at Knights Cottage with second wife Sarah (46), Mary (20) a cotton cardroom hand, Samuel (18) a cotton spinner, Percy (17), and Sarah (15) both cardroom hands. Also present are mother-in-law Ann Greenatch (Greenhalgh?) aged 85, and relation Ann Hunsworth (Unsworth?), aged 2. Samuel died on 6 Feb 1907.

Samuel's birth was registered in 2q 1841 Bolton 21 145, mother's maiden name Openshaw. His father's occupation on his baptism record is crofter (a bleacher of cloth).

In 1879 when Samuel was 37, he first married **Elizabeth Winward** in Westhoughton, St John, Lancashire. The marriage was registered in 3q 1879 Bolton 8c 406. Elizabeth was born in Chew Moor, Lostock, Lancashire, on 16 May 1852. Elizabeth died in Chew Moor, Lostock, Lancashire, on 11 Mar 1889.

With the exception of Percy, Samuel and Elizabeth's children were registered with their mother's maiden name as Bullough. There is no evidence of a previous Bullough-Winward marriage. One explanation is that Elizabeth was illegitimate and used both her mother's and father's names at various times.

They had the following children:

- i. Mary Warburton. Mary was born in Chew Moor, Lostock, Lancashire, in 1880.
 - Mary's birth was registered in 4q 1880 Bolton 8c 335, mother's maiden name Bullough, sub-district Horwich (LancashireBMD).
- ii. Samuel Warburton. Samuel was born in Chew Moor, Lostock, Lancashire, in 1882.
 - Samuel's birth was registered in 2q 1882 Bolton 8c 371, mother's maiden name Bullough, sub-district Horwich (LancashireBMD).
- 23 iii. **Percy Warburton** (1883-1955)
 - Sarah Jane Warburton. Sarah Jane was born in Chew Moor, Lostock, Lancashire, in 1885.
 - Sarah's birth was registered in 2q 1885 Bolton 8c 335, mother's maiden name Bullough, sub-district Horwich (LancashireBMD).
 - v. **James Richard Warburton**. James Richard was born in Chew Moor, Lostock, Lancashire, in 1886.

Richard's birth was registered in 3q 1886 Bolton 8c 366, mother's maiden name Bullough, sub-district Horwich (LancashireBMD). His death was registered in 1q 1888 Bolton 8c 240, aged 1, sub-district Horwich (LancashireBMD)

On 14 Feb 1893 when Samuel was 51, he second married **Sarah Unsworth** in Bradshawgate Wesleyan Church, Bolton, Lancashire. Samuel (51) was a widowed cotton carder from Westhoughton, father Richard, a crofter. Sarah (39) was a housekeeper from Westhoughton, father John, a collier. The marriages was registered in 1q 1893 Bolton 8c 543. Sarah was born in Westhoughton, Lancashire, abt 1853.

Descendants of William Warburton & Margaret Barlow

Fifth Generation

14. John Warburton (*James*⁴, *John*³, *George*², *William*¹). John was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, on 27 Nov 1819. He was christened in Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshire. ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1851. John (35) is a cloth weaver living in Shails Lane with Elizabeth (34) a yarn winder, Rhoda (6), Ellen (4), Emma (2), and Manoah (5 mths). ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1861. John (46) is a weaver living in the High Street with Elizabeth (43) a charwoman, Emma (12), Manoah (10), George (8), Alma (6), Fred (2), and Frank (2 mths). ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1871. John (50) is a labourer living in the Shails Lane with Elizabeth (53) a charwoman, Manoah (20), and George (17) cloth walkers?, Alma (15) a servant, Fred (12), and Frank (11), plus a boarder. ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1881. John (61) is a cloth yarner living 49 Shails Lane with Elizabeth (64) a charwoman, Frank (20) a carpenter, and grandson James (5). ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1891. John (72) is a general labourer living at 50 Shails Lane with Elizabeth (75). John died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1899. He was buried in Trowbridge Cemetery, Wiltshire, on 5 Dec 1899.

John is recognised as the father of the John and Frederick who were grandsons of his parents in the 1851 census because John Jr used the name Millgrove for the middle name of 2 of his daughters, and for his own on his marriage record. This would also suggest that Elizabeth was the mother of John and Frederick although they were born long before her marriage.

John's death was registered in 4q 1899 Melksham 5a 80, aged 77. He is the husband of Elizabeth, aged 77, in the Wiltshire Memorial Inscription Index.

In 1844 when John was 24, he married **Elizabeth Millgrove** in Trowbridge, Holy Trinity, Wiltshire. The marriage was registered in 2q 1844. Elizabeth was born abt 1819. Elizabeth died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1894. She was buried in Trowbridge Cemetery, Wiltshire, on 26 Oct 1894.

Elizabeth's death was registered in 4q 1894 Melksham 5a 66, aged 75. She is the wife of John, aged 75, in the Wiltshire Memorial Inscription Index.

They had the following children:

- **24** i. **John Warburton** (1838-1906)
 - Frederick Warburton. Frederick was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1840.
 Frederick died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1853.

Frederick's birth was registered as Frederick Milgrove in 1q 1840 Melksham 8 408. No mother's maiden name is given on <u>gro.gov</u>. His death was registered as Frederick Warburton in 3q 1853 Melksham 5a 69, aged 13.

iii. Rhoda Warburton. Rhoda was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1844.

Rhoda's birth was registered in 3q 1844 Melksham 8 354, mother's maiden name Millgrove.

iv. Ellen Warburton. Ellen was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1846.

Ellen's birth was registered in 3q 1864 Melksham 8 387, mother's maiden name Millgrove.

v. **Emma Warburton**. Emma was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1848.

Emma's birth was registered in 4q 1848 Melksham 8 376, mother's maiden name Millgrove.

vi. **Manoah Warburton**. Manoah was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1850. Manoah died in 1920.

Manoah's birth was registered in 4q 1850 Melksham 8 399, mother's maiden name Millgrove. His death was registered in 2q 1920 Swindon 5a 7, aged 69.

He appears in the 1901 census as an engine maker in Swindon with wife Annie and four sons but has yet to be explored further.

vii. George Warburton. George was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1853.

George's birth was registered in 2q 1853 Melksham 5a 111, mother's maiden name Millgrove. He appeared in the 1911 census as a cloth weaver in Bradford on Avon with wife Julia. They had no children. George has not been explored further.

- 25 viii. Alma Warburton (1855-)
 - ix. Frederick Warburton. Frederick was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1858.

Frederick's birth was registered in 3q 1858 Melksham 5a 112, mother's maiden name Millgrove. He appeared in the 1911 census as a dyer in Trowbridge. He had been married to Eliza for 30 years but had no children. He has yet to be explored further.

x. Frank Warburton. Frank was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1861.

Frank's birth was registered in 1q 1861 Melksham 5a 117, mother's maiden name

Millgrove. He appeared in the 1911 census as a joiner in Trowbridge. He had been married to Sara Jane for 28 years and had 2 sons, both still at home. The family have yet to be explored further.

15. James Warburton (*James*⁴, *John*³, *George*², *William*¹). James was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, on 1 Jan 1825. He was christened in Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshire. ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1851. James (25) is a dyer living in Mortimer Street with Elizabeth (23) a burler, Ann (2), and James (1 month). ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1861. James (35) is a dyer's labourer living in Mortimer Street with Elizabeth (35) a woollen cloth worker, and James (11). ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1871. James (45) is a dyer living in Mortimer Street with Elizabeth (44), Reuben (9), and Kate (6). ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1881. James (54) is a woollen dyer living at 8 Bradley Road with Elizabeth (52) a cloth burler, Reuben (19) an agricultural labourer, and Kate (16) a cloth burler. ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1891. James (65) is a wool dyer living at 43 New Road with Elizabeth (63), Reuben (29) a bricklayer, and Kate (25) a cloth burler. James died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1892.

James death was registered in 1q 1892 Melksham 5a 105, aged 67.

In 1845 when James was 19, he married **Elizabeth Webb** in Trowbridge, St James, Wiltshire. The marriage was registered in 3q 1845 Melksham 8 587. Elizabeth was born in Freshford, Somerset, abt 1827. Elizabeth died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1899.

Elizabeth's death was registered in 2q 1899 Melksham 5a 79.

They had the following children:

i. **Ann Warburton**. Ann was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1846.

Ann's birth was registered in 1q 1846 Melksham 8 388, mother's maiden name Webb, and her death in 3q 1846 Melksham 240 (or 241), aged 0.

ii. Ann Warburton. Ann was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1849.

Ann's birth was registered in 1q 1849 Melksham 8 428, mother's maiden name Webb.

iii. James Warburton. James was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1851.

James's birth was registered in 1q 1851 Melksham 8 429. mother's maiden name Webb.

He is on the 1911 census in Plumstead, London He is an oiler of machinery, married to Angeline for 29 years. They have 2 sons and 3 daughters all living at home. He has yet to be explored further.

iv. Reuben Warburton. Reuben was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1861. ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1901. Reuben (38) is a mason living at 43 Mortimer Road with sister Kate (35) a woollen mill burler. Reuben died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1907.

Reuben's birth was registered in 3q 1861 Melksham 5a 114, mother's maiden name Webb. His death was registered in 4q 1907 Melksham 4a 72, aged 46. It seems he never married.

v. **Kate Warburton**. Kate was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1865. ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1901. Kate (35) is a woollen mill burler living with ther brother Reuben at 43 Mortimer Road.

Kate's birth was registered in 2q 1865 Melksham 5a 116, mother's maiden name Webb.

16. Henry Gideon Warburton (*Gideon*⁴, *John*³, *George*², *William*¹). Henry Gideon was born in Wolverhampton, Staffordshire, abt 1832. ■ Census for Camden Town, Middlesex, in 1871. Henry (38) is a professor of music living at 16 Lyme Street with Ann Jane (35), Edith (6), Alice (4), Hubert (sic) aged 2, and a servant. Henry Gideon died in Camden Town, Middlesex, in 1872.

Henry's death was registered in 3q 1872 Pancras 1b 83, aged 40. He was a piano tuner in 1851, and professor of music in 1871, when his place of birth was given as Northampton. No baptism record has been found to resolve bewteen Wolverhampton and Northampton.

Probate was granted to Anne Jane Warburton on August 15th 1872. Effects were under £300.

In 1860 when Henry Gideon was 28, he married **Ann Jane Grey** in St Pancras, Old Church,

	 •			$\overline{}$					4		
	 •	h		,	\sim	-	\sim	2		\sim	
F		ı		_	_	11	_	-		11	
	 L		١,	$\overline{}$	·		$\mathbf{}$	ı	L	u	

Middlesex. Ann Jane was born in Dover, Kent, abt 1835.

Ann subsequently married William Knight.

They had the following children:

- i. Edith Warburton. Edith was born in St Pancras, Middlesex, abt 1864.
 - Edith's birth was registered in 3q 1864 Pancras 1b 131, mother's maiden name Grey.
- ii. Alice Warburton. Alice was born in St Pancras, Middlesex, in 1867.

Alice's birth was registered in 1q 1867 Pancras 1b 132, mother's maiden name Grev.

- 26 iii. Herbert Warburton (1868-)
- **17. Robert Warburton** (*James*⁴, *Richard*³, *William*², *William*¹). Robert was born in Kearsley, Lancashire, on 12 Feb 1850. Census for Dartford, Kent, in 1871. Robert (21) is a paper maker lodging with Thomas Wood and his family. Census for Wraysbury, Buckinghamshire, in 1881. Robert (31) is a paper maker living at Hythe End Paper Mill House with Ann (28), Alice (7) Hannah E (5), Robert (3), Frances A (8 months), and widowed mother-in-law Hannah Webster. As the first 3 of Robert's children were born in Sutton Courtney, where Robert's father worked and died, it seems he worked with his father but moved away when he died. Census for Snodland, Kent, in 1891. Robert (41) is a paper maker living at 6 Bull Field with Ann (38), Robert (13) a baker's assistant, Frances A (10), Margaret (8), Ellen (5), and Henrietta (1). Census for Snodland, Kent, in 1901. Robert (51) is a paper maker living in Bull Field with Ann (48), Margaret E (17), Ellen (15), and Henrietta (11). Census for Rochester, Kent, in 1911. Robert (61) is working in a Cement Works and living at 92 Frindsbury Hill, Strood (4 rooms) with Ann (58), and Henrietta (21). Robert and Ann had been married 38 years and had 7 children, all living. Robert died in Strood, Kent, in 1928.

Robert's birth was registered 1q 1850 Bolton 21 169, mother's maiden name Reason. He was born at Blacus Green. His death was registered in 4q 1928 Strood 2a 843, aged 78.

In 1873 when Robert was 22, he married **Ann Webster** in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire. The marriage was registered in 4q 1873 Abingdon 2c 419. Ann was born in Steventon, Berkshire, abt 1853. Ann died in Strood, Kent, in 1928.

They had the following children:

Alice Warburton. Alice was born in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, on 18 Dec 1873.
 Alice died in Sittingbourne, Kent, in 1963.

Alice's birth was registered in 4q 1873 Abingdon 2c 281, mother's maiden name Webster. Her death was registered in 2q 1963 Chatham 5b 363, aged 89.

In 1901 when Alice was 27, she married **Albert Barrett** in Rodmersham, Kent. The marriage was registered in 4q 1901 Maidstone 2a 1615. The couple have no children in the 1911 census, or 1939 Register, and there are no registrations of children after 1911. Albert was born on 18 Mar 1873. Albert died in Rochester, Kent, on 28 Oct 1943.

Albert's death was registered in 4q 1943 Chatham 2a 1634, aged 70. Administration for Albert of Cooks Warfe, High Street was granted to Alice Barrett, widow His effects were £209 14s 5d.

ii. **Hannah Edith Warburton**. Hannah Edith was born in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, in 1876. Hannah Edith died in Canterbury, Kent, on 29 Jan 1966.

Hannah's birth was registered in 1q 1876 Abingdon 2c 309, mother's maiden name Webster. Her death was registered in 1q 1966 Canterbury 5f 135, aged 90.

Probate for Hannah of 20 New Dover Road, Canterbury was granted to Barclays Bank Ltd., and John Warburton Featherstone, company director. Her effects were £46,020.

In 1899 when Hannah Edith was 23, she married **John Thomas Featherstone** in Malling, Kent. The marriage was registered in 1q 1899 Malling 2a 866. John and Hannah had 3 sons. John Thomas was born in Bicknor, Kent, in 1875. John Thomas died in Gillingham, Kent, on 12 Mar 1936.

John was a clothing manufacturer in Strood, Kent in 1911. He was initiated into St Peter's Masonic Lodge in 1925.

His death was registered in 1q 1936 Medway 2a 1330, aged 61. Probate for John of Pinecroft, 21 New Dover Road, Canterbury, who died at 511 Canterbury Street, Gillingham, was granted to Barclays Bank Ltd. His effects were £55,158 10s 6d, later resworn as £62,986 14s 10d.

- 27 iii. Robert Warburton (1877-1949)
 - iv. Frances Ann Warburton. Frances Ann was born in Wraysbury, Buckinghamshire, in 1880. Frances Ann died on 13 May 1955. She was buried in Strood Cemetery, Kent.

Frances's birth was registered in 3q 1880 Eton, Bucks 3a 552, mother's maiden name Webster. Her death was registered in 2q 1955, Chatham 5b 256, aged 74.

In 1907 when Frances Ann was 27, she married **Edward Dorrell** in Strood, Kent. Edward was born in Chatham, Kent, in 1881. Edward died on 12 May 1959. He was buried in Strood Cemetery, Kent.

Probate for Edward of 41 Kitcher Road, Strood, Rochester was granted to Herbert Spencer, maintenance electrician. His effects were £937 13s 8d.

v. **Margaret Elizabeth Warburton**. Margaret Elizabeth was born in Wraysbury, Buckinghamshire, in 1883. Margaret Elizabeth died in Chatham, Kent, in 1944.

Margaret's birth was registered in 4q 1883 Eton, Bucks 3a 577, mother's maiden name Webster. Her death was registered in 2q 1944 Chatham 2a 1356, aged 60. She never married.

vi. **Ellen Warburton**. Ellen was born in Staines, Middlesex, on 17 Jan 1886. Ellen died in Rochester, St Bartholomew Hospital, Kent, on 9 Dec 1964.

Ellen's birth was registered in 1q 1886 Staines 3a 15, mother's maiden name Webster. Her death was registered in 4q 1964 Chatham 5b 327, aged 77. Probate for Ellen of 120 Frindsbury Road, Rochester was granted to Cecil Irving Edward Wade, assistant headmaster. Her effects were £431.

In 1920 when Ellen was 33, she married **Herbert Pearch** in Strood, Kent. The marriage was registered in 2q 1920 Strood 2a 1774. Herbert and Ellen had a daughter. Herbert was born in Seal, Kent, on 6 Jan 1881. Herbert died in 1959.

Herbert was a golf professional in the 1911 census, and a golf club groundsman in the 1939 Register. His death was registered in 3q 1959 Chatham 5b 226, aged 78.

vii. **Henrietta Warburton**. Henrietta was born in Snodland, Kent, on 13 Oct 1890. Henrietta died in Chatham, Kent, in 1960.

Henrietta's birth was registered in 4q 1889 Malling 2a 630, mother's maiden name Webster. In 1939 Henrietta is living with her unmarried sister Margaret, and a Gertrude Whitmore, aged 69, at 126 Findsbury Road, Rochester. Her death was registered in 3q 1960 Chatham 5b 280, aged 70.

18. Thomas Ernest Warburton (*James*⁴, *Richard*³, *William*², *William*¹). Thomas Ernest was born in Durham in 1855. ■ Census for Sanford-on-Thames, Oxfordshire, in 1881. Thomas E (26) is a papermaker living at Mill House with Sarah (23), Mary E (3), Thomas J (2), and sister Mary E (20) a milliner. ■ Census for St Ebbe, Oxford, Oxfordshire, in 1891. Thos (36) is a general merchant living at 17 Bridge Street with Sarah (33), Mary E (13), Thos (12), Ernest (7), Constance (5), Bertie (1), and mother-in-law Esther Brice (76) a widow. ■ Census for St Ebbe, Oxford, Oxfordshire, in

1901. Thos (45) is a marine store dealer living at 17 Bridge Street with Sarah (42), Laura (19), Ernest (17) a plumber, Constance (15), Bertie (11), Arthur L (2), and a lodger. Thomas Ernest died in Oxford, Oxfordshire, in Jul 1901.

Thomas's birth was registered in 2q 1855 Durham 10a 224, mother's maiden name Kitchen. His death was registered in 3q 1901 Oxford 3a 531, aged 46.

In 1876 when Thomas Ernest was 21, he married **Sarah Brice**. The marriage was registered in 4q 1876 Abingdon 2c 685. Sarah was born in Witney, Oxfordshire, in 1858. ■ Census for Sanford-on-Thames, Oxfordshire, in 1911. Sarah (52) is a widowed marine store dealer living at 17 Bridge Street with Constance (24), Bertie (21) a general merchant, and Arthur (12). Sarah has had 9 children, 7 still living. Sarah died in Oxford, Oxfordshire, in 1939.

They had the following children:

 Mary Ester Warburton. Mary Ester was born in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, in 1877.

Mary's birth was registered in 2q 1877 Abingdon 2c 302, mother's maiden name Brise (sic). Her death registration has not been satisfactorily identified.

In 1901 when Mary Ester was 24, she married **John Frederick Jakeman**. The marriage was registered in 4q 1901 Oxford 3a 1735. John Frederick was born in Warrington, Lancashire, in Oct 1878. John Frederick died in 1963.

John's death was registered in 4q 1963 Oxford 6b 973, aged 84.

- 28 ii. Thomas James Warburton (1878-1928)
 - Laura Warburton. Laura was born in Sanford-on-Thames, Oxfordshire, in 1882.
 Laura died in 1942.

Laura's birth was registered in 1q 1882 Abingdon 2c 301, mother's maiden name Brice. Her death was registered in 1q 1942 Abingdon 2c 646, aged 60.

In 1904 when Laura was 22, she married **James Thomas Wright**. The marriage was registered in 4q 1904 Oxford 3a 1774. Laura and James had had a son by the 1911 census No other children are registered in the Oxford area with a mother's maiden name of Warburton. James Thomas was born in 1881.

- **29** iv. **Ernest Warburton** (1884-1942)
 - v. **Constance Warburton**. Constance was born in Oxford, Oxfordshire, in 1885. Constance died in 1965.

Constance's birth was registered in 3q 1885 Oxford 3a 771, mother's maiden name Brice. Her death was registered in 2q 1965 Abingdon 6a 3, aged 79.

In 1913 when Constance was 28, she married **Daniel J Donovan**. The marriage

was registered in 3q 1913 Oxford 3a 2497. There are no children registered with a mother's maiden name of Warburton.

- 30 vi. **Bertie Warburton** (1889-1955)
- 31 vii. Arthur Lionel Warburton (1898-1952)

19. Joseph Warburton (James⁴, Richard³, William², William¹). Joseph was born in Thatcham, Berkshire, in 1866. ■ Census for Reading, Berkshire, in 1881. Joseph (14) is a servant (clerk) living with George Richard Jackson (35) a haberdasher, and his family. ■ Census for Reading, Berkshire, in 1891. Joseph (24) is a merchant's clerk living at 381 Oxford Road with Annie E (20), Gladys E (3 weeks), and Lizzie Worthing (40) a servant. ■ Census for Reading, Berkshire, in 1901. Joseph (34) is a general merchant living at 387 Oxford Road with Annie Emma (30) Gladys Ethel (10), Violet Hilda (8), Grace Euphemia (4), Cissie Williams (12) adopted, and Nora Coles (16) a servant. ■ Census for Reading, Berkshire, in 1911. Joseph (44) is a director/manager of a Thistal (sic) merchant living at Banavir, 6 Brunswick Hill (a 9 room house), with Annie (40), Gladys Ethel (20) a daily governess, Violet Hilda (18) a pupil teacher, Eric Jackson (6) and a servant Edith Gertrude Hall (17). Joseph and Annie have been married 21 years and had 4 children, all living. Joseph died in 1939.

Joseph's birth was registered in 4q 1866 Newbury 2c 217, mother's maiden name Kitchen. His death was registered in 4q 1939 Reading 2c 863, aged 73.

In 1890 when Joseph was 24, he married **Annie Emma Phillips**. The marriage was registered in 2q 1890 Reading 2c 671. Annie Emma was born in Reading, Berkshire, abt 1870. Annie Emma died in 1943.

Annie's death was registered in 3q 1943 Reading 2c 339, aged 73.

They had the following children:

i. Gladys Ethel Warburton. Gladys Ethel was born in Reading, Berkshire, in 1891.

Gladys's birth was registered in 2q 1891 Reading 2c 337, mother's maiden name Phillips. No certain marriage or death registrations have been found.

ii. Violet Hilda Warburton. Violet Hilda was born in Reading, Berkshire, in 1893.

Violet's birth was registered in 1q 1893 Reading 2c 344, mother's maiden name Phillip. No marriage or death registration has been identified.

iii. **Grace Euphemia Warburton**. Grace Euphemia was born in Reading, Berkshire, in 1897.

Grace's birth was registered in 4q 1896 Reading 2c 354, mother's maiden name Phillip. Her death was registered in 1g 1931 Henley 3a 1556, aged 34.

In 1925 when Grace Euphemia was 28, she married **Ernest A S Edwards**. The marriage was registered in 3q 1925 Abingdon 2c 849. The birth of a daughter was registered at Reading in 3q 1927, mother's maiden name Warburton.

iv. Eric Jackson Warburton. Eric Jackson was born in Reading, Berkshire, in 1905.

Eric's birth was registered in 2q 1905 Reading 2c 352, mother's maiden name Phillip. His death registration has not been found so he may have died abroad.

In Dec 1939 when Eric Jackson was 34, he married **Mary Smith** in Paddington, Middlesex. The marriage was registered in 4q 1939 Paddington 1a 90. Eric and Mary had a daughter.

20. William Henry Warburton (James⁴, Richard³, William², William¹). William Henry was born in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, in 1869. ■ Census for Reading, Berkshire, in 1901. William (31) is an iron foundry turner living at 25 Charles Street with Catherine J (31). ■ Census for Reading, Berkshire, in 1911. William (41) is a metal turner living at 49 Charles Street with Catherine J (41), Henry Selwyn (7), Ivy Kathleen (4), Victor William (2), and sister Mary Ester Condell (46) a widow. William and Catherine have been married 12 years and had 3 children, all living. William Henry died in 1935.

William's birth was registered in 4q 1869 Abingdon 2c 290, mother's maiden name Kitson (sic). His death was registered in 4q 1935 Reading 2c 417, aged 65.

In 1899 when William Henry was 30, he married **Catherine Jesse Archard**. The marriage was registered in 1q 1899 Reading 2c 480. Catherine Jesse was born in Reading, Berkshire, in 1870. Catherine Jesse died in 1954.

Catherine's birth was registered in 1q 1870 Reading 2c 395. Her death was registered in 3q 1954 Reading 6a 71, aged 84.

They had the following children:

- Henry Selwyn Warburton. Henry Selwyn was born in Reading, Berkshire, in 1903.
 Henry Selwyn died in 1952.
 - Henry's birth was registered in 4q 1903 Reading 2c 345, mother's maiden name Archard. His death was registered in 4q 1952 Reading 6a 86, age 48. No mariage registration had been found.
- Ivy Kathleen Warburton. Ivy Kathleen was born in Reading, Berkshire, on 15 Sep 1906. Ivy Kathleen died in 1969.
 - Ivy's birth was registered in 4q 1906 Reading 2c 340, mother's maiden name Archard. Her death was registered in 4q 1969 Reading 6a 345, aged 63.
 - In 1947 when Ivy Kathleen was 40, she married **Edward T Waltham**. The marriage was registered in 1g 1947 Reading 6a 153. No children's births are registered.
- Victor William Warburton. Victor William was born in Reading, Berkshire, in 1908.
 Victor William died in 1956.
 - Victor's birth was registered in 4q 1908 Reading 2c 336, mother's maiden name Archard. His death was registered in 1q 1956 Henley 6b 1159, aged 47. No marriage registration has been found.
- 21. Richard Ernest Warburton (James⁴, Richard³, William², William¹). Richard Ernest was born in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, in 1871. Census for Leamington, Warwickshire, in 1901. Richard E (39) is a rag merchant living at 13 John Street with Lizzie (28), brother Charles (25) a rag merchant, and visitor Sophie Looker (17). Census for Leamington, Warwickshire, in 1911. Richard E (39) is a general merchant living in a 7 room house at 13 John Street with Lizzie (37), Dorothy (9), Marjorie (7), Ruby (5), and Lizzie's sister Sophie Looker (27). Richard and Lizzie have been married 14 years and had 4 children, 3 still living. Richard Ernest died in Leamington, Warwickshire, on 10 Feb 1916.

Richard's birth was registered in 4q 1871 Abingdon 2c 287, mother's maiden name Kitching (sic). His death was registered in 1q 1916 Warwick 6d 995, aged 44.

In 1896 when Richard Ernest was 25, he married **Elizabeth (Lizzie) Looker**. The marriage was registered in 4g 1896 Abingdon 2c 656.

Fifth Generation

They had the following children:

- i. **Dorothy Warburton**. Dorothy was born in Leamington, Warwickshire, in 1901.
 - Dorothy's birth was registered in 3q 1901 Warwick 6d 681, mother's maiden name Looker. No obvious marriage or death registration has been identified.
- ii. **Marjorie Warburton**. Marjorie was born in Leamington, Warwickshire, on 25 Oct 1903. Marjorie died in May 1985.
 - Marjorie's birth was registered in 4q 1903 Warwick 6d 663, mother's maiden name Looker. Her death was registered in May 1985 Mid Warwickshire 31 588, aged 81. She never married.
- Ruby Warburton. Ruby was born in Leamington, Warwickshire, on 15 Aug 1905.Ruby died in Dec 1995.
 - Ruby's birth was registered in 3q 1905 Warwick 6d 674, mother's maiden name Locker (sic). No marriage registration has been found so she is possibly the Ruby whose death was registered in December 1995 Rugby 66D 7701 220, aged 90 as her date of birth is in the same quarter as Ruby's birth registration.
- **22.** Charles Owen Warburton (*James*⁴, *Richard*³, *William*², *William*¹). Charles Owen was born in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, in Jul 1875. Census for Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, in 1911. Charles (34) is a rag, bone, skin, and metal merchant living at 12 Birmingham Road with Sarah Ann (30), Constance Audrey (6), Ceretha (4), and Charles Aubrey (1). Charles and Sarah have been married 9 years and had 3 children all living. Charles Owen died in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, on 28 May 1943.

Charles's birth was registered in 3q 1875 Abingdon 2c 288, mother's maiden name Kitching (sic).

In 1901 when Charles Owen was 25, he married **Sarah Ann Aubrey** in Warwick, Warwickshire. The marriage was registered in 4q 1901 Warwick 6d 1175. Sarah Ann was born in Leamington, Warwickshire, on 9 Jun 1879.

Fifth Generation

They had the following children:

 Constance Audrey Warburton. Constance Audrey was born in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, in Jul 1904. Constance Audrey died in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, on 2 Jan 1963.

Constance's birth was registered in 3q 1904 Warwick 6d 689, mother's maiden name Aubuy (sic).

In Sep 1933 when Constance Audrey was 29, she married **William Lively** in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire. William was born in Clifford Chambers, Gloucestershire. in 1904.

 Ceretha Warburton. Ceretha was born in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, on 14 Aug 1906. Ceretha died in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, on 11 Oct 1989.

Ceretha's birth was registered in 3q 1906 Stratford 6d 713, mother's maiden name Aubrey. Her death was registered (as Ceratha) in Oct 1989 Mid Warwickshire 31 643, aged 83.

In 1933 when Ceretha was 26, she married **George E Randle** in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire. The marriage was registered in 2q 1933 Stratford 6d 1972. Ceretha and George had a son and a daughter, and seven grandchildren.

- 32 iii. Charles Aubrey Warburton (1909-1954)
 - iv. Mona Eileen Warburton. Mona Eileen was born in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, in 1911. Mona Eileen died in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, on 19 Mar 1913.

Mona's birth was registered in 4q 1911 Stratford 6d 1314, mother's maiden name Aubrey. Her death was registered in 1q 1913 Stratford-upon-Avon 6d 1054, aged 1.

- 33 v. **Rex Alfred Warburton** (1915-2001)
 - vi. **John Francis O Warburton**. John Francis O was born in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, on 25 Nov 1917. John Francis O died in 1991.

John's birth was registered in 4q 1917 Stratford 6d 1251, mother's maiden name Aubrey. His death was registered in March 1991 Mid Warwickshire 31 560, aged 73.

In 1941 when John Francis O was 23, he married **Dorothy F Daniels**. The marriage was registered in 1q 1941 Norwich 4b 511. A boy was registered in King's Lynn in 1947, mother's maiden name Daniels. He married and had a daughter.

23. Percy Warburton (Samuel⁴, Richard³, William², William¹). Percy was born in Chew Moor, Lostock, Lancashire, on 27 Jul 1883. ■ Census for Coupe Green, Higher Walton, Lancashire, in 1911. Percy (27) is a cotton card stripper and grinder living with Rebecca (30), and Samuel (3). Percy died in Barrow-in-Furness, Lancashire, on 5 Feb 1955.

Fifth Generation

Percy's birth was registered in 3q 1883 Bolton 8c 355, mother's maiden name Winward, sub-district Horwich (LancashireBMD). His death was registered in 1q 1955 Barrow-in-Furness10b 237, aged 71.

On 21 Aug 1907 when Percy was 24, he married **Rebecca Kirkham** in Walton Paridh Church, Lancashire. Rebecca was born in Barrow-in-Furness, Lancashire, on 9 Jan 1881. Rebecca died in Barrow-in-Furness, Lancashire, on 28 Jul 1949.

They had the following children:

 Samuel Warburton. Samuel was born in Higher Walton, Preston, Lancashire, in 1908. Samuel died in 1965.

Samuel's birth was registered in 2q 1908 Preston 8e 613, mother's maiden name Kirkham. His death is probably that registered in 1q 1965 Barrow-in-Furnace 10b 242, aged 56. A possible marriage is that to Mabel Satterthwaite at Whitehaven in 1933. A boy and 2 girls were registered at Barrow-in-Furnace between 1934 and 1940, mother's maiden name Satterthwaite.

ii. Clifford Warburton. Clifford was born in Barrow-in-Furness, Lancashire, on 12 Sep 1911. Clifford died in Barrow-in-Furness, Lancashire, on 20 Aug 1974.

Clifford's birth was registered in 4q 1911 Barrow-in-Furness 8e 1289, mother's maiden name Kirkham. His death was registered in 3q 1974 Barrow-in-Furnace 1 76, aged 62.

On 1 Aug 1936 when Clifford was 24, he married **Florence Mary Potter** in Barrow, St John, Lancashire. Clifford and Florence's son David is my contact. Florence Mary was born in Plymouth, Devon, on 23 Oct 1916. Florence Mary died in Barrow-in-Furness, Lancashire, on 30 Sep 2006.

Florence's death was registered in Oct 2006 Barrow-in-Furnace B28D 373/1B 224, aged 90 (should be 89).

iii. Gladys Warburton. Gladys was born in Barrow-in-Furness, Lancashire, in 1916.

Gladys's birth was registered in 2q 1916 Barrow 8e 1288, mother's maiden name Kirkham. She has not been explored further.

iv. Edna Warburton. Edna was born in Barrow-in-Furness, Lancashire, in 1918.

Edna's birth was registered in 3q 1918 Barrow 8e 967, mother's maiden name Kirkham. She has not been explored further.

Descendants of William Warburton & Margaret Barlow

Sixth Generation

24. John Warburton (John⁵, James⁴, John³, George², William¹). John was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, on 21 Feb 1838. ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1861. John (23) - occupation illegible - is living in Conigre with Jane (21) a winder, Emily (3) and Fanny (1). ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1871. John (33) is a dyer living in Shails Lane with Jane (30) a cloth worker, Emily (13) a housemaid, Fanny (11) a housemaid, Clara (9), William (7), Sidney (5), Charles (3), and Rosina (1). ■ Census for North Kingstown, Rhode Island, on 14 Jun 1880. John (43) is a dyer in a woollen mill living with Jane (39) keeping house, Emily (22), Clara (18), William (17), Sidney (16), and Mary G (14) all working in the woollen mill, Charles (12), Rosina (10), and John H (7). ■ Census for North Kingstown, Rhode Island, on 19 Jun 1900. John (63) is a mill labourer living with Jane (60), and William (37) a spinner. John and Jane have been married for 43 years and had 9 children, 8 still living (this ignores George who died in infancy in Trobridge). They live in their own house. John died in North Kingstown, Rhode Island, on 11 Jul 1906. He was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

John is living with his grandfather, as John Milgrove in the 1841 census, and as John Warburton, along with brother Frederick, in the 1851 census.

His birth was registered as John William Milgrove in 1q 1838 Melksham 8 372. No mother's maiden name is given on <u>gro.gov</u>. He used the name Millgrove as a middle name for two of his daughters and for himself on his marriage record, where his father was named John. On his grave reference on Find A Grave he is called John Henry. His parents are named John and Elizabeth. All details of his children in Rhode Island are from Find A Grave.

John and his family emigrated to Rhode island. His naturalisation papers state he arrived in New York on June 9th 1873 having been born in Trowbridge in 1837, and was naturalised in May 1885. John had arrived on the **City of Montreal** with William (11), Fanny (9), Sydney (7), and Mary (6). The arrival of the rest of the family has not been found but they are all present in the 1880 census.

On his grave his date of birth is February 21st 1837, and in the 1900 Federal census his birth date is February 1837. However his birth was registered in the first quarter of 1838 so he is presumed to be mistaken about the date.

On 9 Apr 1857 when John was 19, he married **Jane Gerrish** in Trowbridge, St James, Wiltshire. John is named John Milgrove Warburton, father John. Jane's father is James Gerrish. The marriage was registered in 2q 1857 Melksham 5a 205 and John is called John Warburton Milgrove. Jane was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, on 1 Jan 1840. Jane died in North Kingstown, Rhode Island, on 14 Jan 1902. She was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

They had the following children:

i. **Emily Warburton**. Emily was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1857. Emily died in 1936. She was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

Emily's birth registration has not been found online.

Aft 1887 when Emily was 30, she married **James Burrill Arnold**. Emily was James's second wife. His first wife died in 1887. There is no evidence that James and Emily had children. James Burrill was born in Exeter, Rhode Island, in Aug 1824. James Burrill died in North Kingstown, Rhode Island, on 5 Mar 1902. He was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

ii. **Fanny Millgrove Warburton**. Fanny Millgrove was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1859. Fanny Millgrove died in North Kingstown, Rhode Island, on 2 Sep 1912. She was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

Fanny's birth was registered in 4q 1859 Melksham 5a 110, mother's maiden name Gerrish.

On 22 May 1880 when Fanny Millgrove was 21, she married **William James Boyce** in North Kingstown, Rhode Island. Fanny and William had a son and a daughter. William James was born in 1861. William James died in 1922.

iii. Clara Millgrove Warburton. Clara Millgrove was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in Aug 1861. Clara Millgrove died in Peace Dale, Rhode Island, on 28 Jan 1927. She was buried in Riverside Cemetery, Rhode Island.

Clara's birth was registered in 4q 1861 Melksham 5a 95, mother's maiden name Gerrish.

On 3 Oct 1881 when Clara Millgrove was 20, she married **George Burnside Gavitt** in South Kingstown, Rhode Island. Clara and George had 3 boys and 3 girls. George Burnside was born in South Kingstown, Rhode Island, in May 1862. George Burnside died in Peace Dale, Rhode Island, on 3 Mar 1944.

iv. William Warburton. William was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, on 17 Feb 1863.William died on 18 May 1933. He was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

William's birth was registered in 1q 1863 Melksham 5a 128, mother's maiden name Gerrish. He never married.

v. **Sydney Warburton**. Sydney was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, on 19 Aug 1864. Sydney died on 23 Nov 1914. He was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

Sidney's birth was registered in 3q 1864 Melksham 5a 113, mother's maiden name Gerrish.

On 9 Feb 1903 when Sydney was 38, he married **Margaret E Gorton**. It isn't known if Sydney and Margaret had children.

vi. Mary Jane Warburton. Mary Jane was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1866.

Mary's birth was registered in 2q 1866 Melksham 5a 112, mother's maiden name Gerrish. Nothing is known of her life in Rhode Island.

vii. **Charles Warburton**. Charles was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1867. Charles died in 1900. He was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

Charles's birth registration has not been found online.

Charles married **Marion K**. The date of the marriage, or if Charles and Marion had children, is unknown. Marion K was born in 1867. Marion K died in 1935. She was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

viii. **Rosina Warburton**. Rosina was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, on 20 Aug 1869. Rosina died in Hope Valley, Rhode Island, in 1953. She was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

Rosina's birth was registered in 3q 1869 Melksham 5a 118, mother's maiden name Gerrish. By the time of her burial her name was rendered as Roseina.

Rosina married **Alvin T Phillips**. Alvin and Rosina had 2 sons and a daughter, but the date of their marriage is unknown. Alvin T was born in Rhode Island, on 20 Jun 1867. Alvin T died in 1932. He was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

ix. George Warburton. George was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1871.

George's birth was registered in 3q 1871 Melksham 5a 118, mother's maiden name Gerrish. His death was registered in 2q 1871 Melksham 5a 72, aged 0.

34 x. **John Henry Warburton** (1872-1933)

25. Alma Warburton (*John*⁵, *James*⁴, *John*³, *George*², *William*¹). Alma was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1855.

Alma's birth was registered in 3q 1855 Melksham 5a 109, mother's maiden name Millgrove.

Alma first had a relationship with **unknown father**.

They had one child:

i. James Frederick Warburton (1875-1958)

In 1887 when Alma was 32, she second married **William Wright** in Trowbridge, Wiltshire. The marriage was registered in 2q 1887 Melksham 5a 216.

26. Herbert Warburton (Henry Gideon⁵, Gideon⁴, John³, George², William¹). Herbert was born in

Camden Town, Middlesex, in 1868. ■ Census for Muswell Hill, Middlesex, in 1911. Herbert (42) is a printer (letterpress) living in an 8 room house at 3 Woodside Villas, Tenterdown, Muswell Hill with Edith Mary (42), Alan Glyde (13), Emily Mary Gregory (65), and a servant. Herbert and Edith had been married 14 years and had one chid, still living.

Herbert's birth was registered in 4q 1868 Pancras 1b 129, mother's maiden name Grey. His death registration hasn't been found.

In 1896 when Herbert was 28, he married **Edith Mary Gregory**. The marriage was registered in 3q 1896 Pancras 1b 333. No further children were registered in the London area with mother's maiden name Gregory after the 1911 census. Edith Mary was born in Kentish Town, London, abt 1868.

They had one child:

36 i. **Alan Glyde Warburton** (1897-1967)

27. Robert Warburton (*Robert*⁵, *James*⁴, *Richard*³, *William*², *William*¹). Robert was born in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, on 28 Oct 1877. ■ Census for Plumstead, Kent, in 1901. Robert (24) is a Police Constable in the Metropolitan Police living in a Police Section House. ■ Census for Croydon, Surrey, in 1911. Robert (33) is a Police Sergeant in the Metropolitan Police living at 6 Upper Beulah Hill, Upper Norwood (3 rooms) with Annie (31), Robert (3) and Margaret (2). Robert and Annie had been married 4 years and had 2 children, still living. ■ Census for Ruislip, Middlesex, in 1939. Robert is a retired Police Inspector living at 164 Pavilion Way with Annie. Robert died in Hillingdon County Hospital, Middlesex, on 27 Sep 1949.

Robert's birth was registered in 4q 1877 Abingdon 2c 300 (occasional copy A), mother's maiden name Webster.

He retired from the Police in 1925 with a pension of £238 5s 8d per annum.

His death was registered in 3q 1949 Uxbridge 5f 113, aged 73. Probate for Robert of 164 Pavillion Way, Eastcote was granted to Annie Warburton, widow. His effects were £2,771 11s 7d.

In 1906 when Robert was 28, he married **Annie Webster** in Abingdon, Berkshire. The marriage was registered in Abingdon 2c 661. Annie was born in Abingdon, Berkshire, on 22 Aug 1879.

Annie's death registration has not been identified, but she outlived her husband.

They had the following children:

- Robert Henry Warburton. Robert Henry was born in Soho, Middlesex, in 1907.
 Robert Henry died in Southwark, Surrey, in 1919.
 - Robert's birth was registered in 4q 1907 Westminster 2a 444, mother's maiden name Webster. His death is probally that registered in 2q 1919 Southwark 1d 22, aged 11.
- Margaret Rebecca Warburton. Margaret Rebecca was born in Upper Norwood, Surrey, on 19 Jan 1909. Margaret Rebecca died in Goring by Sea, West Sussex, on 9 Nov 1992.

Margaret's birth was registered in 1q 1909 Lambeth 1d 470, mother's maiden name Webster. Her death was registered in Novemebr 1992 Worthing 18 2193, aged 83. Probate for Margaret Rebecca of S Willow House, Goring Chase, The Strand, Goring by Sea, Worthing was granted at Brighton. Her effects were £70,862.

In 1937 when Margaret Rebecca was 27, she married **George W Bannister** in Westminster, Middlesex. The marriage was registered in 1q 1937 Westminster 1a 865. No children were subsequently registered with mother's maiden name Warburton.

28. Thomas James Warburton (*Thomas Ernest*⁵, *James*⁴, *Richard*³, *William*², *William*¹). Thomas James was born in Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire, in 1878. ■ Census for Oxford, Oxfordshire, in 1911. Thomas (32) is a general merchant living at 25 Parker Street with Louisa (33), Charles (12), Olive (7), Thomas (1) and a servant. Thomas and Louisa have been married 12 years and had 4 children, 3 still living. This seems to be a white lie to explain Charles's age as they only married in 1903. Thomas James died in 1928.

Thomas's birth was registered in 2q 1878 Abingdon 2c 295, mother's maiden name Brice. His death was registered in 1q 1928 Headington 3a 1363, aged 49.

In 1903 when Thomas James was 25, he married **Louisa Laura Hounslow**. The marriage was registered in 3q 1903 Abingdon 2c 637. Louisa Laura was born in Oxford, Oxfordshire, in Jan 1878. Louisa Laura died in 1958.

Louisa's birth was registered in 1q 1878 Oxford 3a 706. She was living at St Ebbe, Oxford in 1881, and with her widowed mother at St Aldate, Osford in 1901. Her death was registered in 2q 1958 Oxford 6b 907, aged 80.

They had the following children:

i. Charles Warburton. Charles was born in Long Wittenham, Berkshire, abt 1898.

Charles's birth registration has not been found. He appears in the 1901 census as adopted, aged 2 living at Long Wittenham with Emma Greenough (62) a widow. He has not been investigated further, but his parentage is uncertain.

ii. Olive Maude Warburton. Olive Maude was born in Oxford, Oxfordshire, in 1904.

Olives's birth was registered in 1q 1904 Headington 3a 1059, mother's maiden name Hounslow.

iii. **Thomas Claude Warburton**. Thomas Claude was born in Oxford, Oxfordshire, in 1909.

Thomas's birth was registered in 4q 1909 Headington 3a 1016, mother's maiden name Hounslow. He has not ben investigated further.

29. Ernest Warburton (*Thomas Ernest*⁵, *James*⁴, *Richard*³, *William*², *William*¹). Ernest was born in 1884. Ernest died in 1942.

Ernest's birth was registered in 1q 1884 Abingdon 2c 295, mother's maiden name Brice. His death is probably that recorded in 1g 1942 Wokingham 2c 936, aged 58.

In 1909 when Ernest was 25, he married **Caroline May Aldridge**. The marriage was registered in 2q 1909 Oxford 3a 1949. Caroline May died in Oxford, Oxfordshire, in 1970. Caroline May was born in St Thomas, Oxford, Oxfordshire, in May 1885.

They had the following children:

 Rita May Warburton. Rita May died in Nov 1984. Rita May was born in Reading, Berkshire, in 1910.

Rita's birth was registered in 2q 1910 Reading 2c 355, mother's maiden name Aldridge.

In Jun 1933 when Rita May was 23, she married **Cyril F Woodley** in Reading, Berkshire. The marriage was registered in 2q 1933 Reading 2c 1023. Four boys were registered at Reading with a mother's maiden name of Warburton between 1933 and 1944. Cyril F was born in Bradfield, Berkshire, on 15 May 1910. Cyril F died in Apr 1998.

ii. Richard E Warburton. Richard E was born in 1917.

Richard's birth was registered in 4q 1917 Reading 2c 489, mother's maiden name Aldridge. Neither his death registration or an obvious marriage registration have been found.

30. Bertie Warburton (*Thomas Ernest*⁵, *James*⁴, *Richard*³, *William*², *William*¹). Bertie was born in Oxford, Oxfordshire, in 1889. Bertie died in 1955.

Bertie's birth was registered in 4q 1889 Oxford 3a 806, mother's maiden name Brice. His death was registered in 3q 1955 Oxford 6b 754, aged 65.

In 1915 when Bertie was 26, he married **Annie Elizabeth Milsted**. The marriage was registered in 2q 1915 Headington 3a 2722. Annie Elizabeth was born in Botley, Oxfordshire, in 1892.

They had one child:

Barbara Joan (Geda) Warburton. Barbara Joan (Geda) was born on 17 Nov 1915.
 Barbara Joan (Geda) died in 1979.

Barbara's birth was registered in 4q 1915 Oxford 3a 1800, mother's maiden name Milsted. Her death was registered in 2q 1979 Abingdon 20 2030, aged 63.

In 1938 when Barbara Joan (Geda) was 22, she married **Humphrey S J Ansell** in Oxfordshire. The marriage was registered in 2q 1938 Abingdon 2c 937a. Two boys and a girl were registered at Oxford with a mother's maiden name of Warburton between 1942 and 1949.

31. Arthur Lionel Warburton (*Thomas Ernest*⁵, *James*⁴, *Richard*³, *William*², *William*¹). Arthur Lionel was born in Oct 1898. Arthur Lionel died in Oxford, Oxfordshire, on 8 Sep 1952.

Arthur's birth was registered in 4q 1898 Oxford 3a 861, mother's maiden name Brice. His death was registered in 3q 1952 Oxford 6b 714, aged 53.

On 30 Apr 1936 when Arthur Lionel was 37, he married **Mollie Maureen Chandler** in Berkshire. The marriage was registered in 2q 1936 Reading 2c 1035. Arthur and Mollie also had a second son, who in turn had three sons. Mollie Maureen was born in Reading, Berkshire, on 26 Oct 1905. Mollie Maureen died in Michael Sobell House, Oxford, Oxfordshire, 14th December 1978.

They had the following children:

- Helen Jill Maureen Warburton. Helen Jill Maureen was born in Reading, Berkshire, in 1937. Helen Jill Maureen died in Cumnor, Oxford, in 1993.
 - Helen's birth was registered in 1q 1937 Reading 2c 507, mother's maiden name Chandler. Neither her marriage, nor her death registrations have beem found.
 - In 1960 when Helen Jill Maureen was 23, she married **Mr Francis**. A boy and a girl were registered at Portsmouth/Gosport in 1961/3.
- ii. **William Clayton Warburton**. William Clayton was born in Oxford, Oxfordshire, in Jun 1943. William Clayton died in North Hinksey, Oxfordshire, in 2011.

William's birth was registered in 3q 1943 Oxford 3a 2594, mother's maiden name Chandler.

In 1966 when William Clayton was 22, he married **Margaret Elizabeth Mary Turnbull** in Oxford, Oxfordshire. The marriage was registered in 3q 1966 Oxford 6b 2633. William and Margaret had 2 sons and a daughter. Margaret Elizabeth Mary died in North Hinksey, Oxfordshire, in 2011.

32. Charles Aubrey Warburton (Charles Owen⁵, James⁴, Richard³, William², William¹). Charles Aubrey was born in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, on 5 Oct 1909. Charles Aubrey died in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, in Jun 1954.

Charles's birth was registered in 4q 1909 Stratford 6d 640, mother's maiden name Aubrey. His death was registered in 2q 1954 Stratford-upon-Avon 9c 874, aged 44.

In 1934 when Charles Aubrey was 24, he married **Verney G Johnson**. The marriage was registered in 1q 1934 Stratford 6d 1457.

They had the following children:

 Richard C Warburton. Richard C was born in Warwick, Warwickshire, on 27 Mar 1934. Richard C died in Haverfordwest, Dyfed, in Apr 2001.

Richard's birth was registered in 2q 1934 Warwick 6d 1254, mother's maiden name Johnson. His death was registered in April 2001 Haverfordwest 11g 8191 75, aged 67. He never married.

 Grace Warburton. Grace was born in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, on 21 Nov 1935. Grace died in Tiverton, Devon, on 30 Jun 2004.

Grace's birth was registered in 4q 1936 Warwick 6d 1174, mother's maiden name Johnson. Her death was registered in July 2004 Mid Devon 36D 421/1 5, aged 68.

On 25 Aug 1956 when Grace was 20, she first married **Phillip A Parker** in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire. The marriage was registered in 3q 1956 Stratford 9c 2617. Philip and Grace had 2 sons.

On 28 Sep 1968 when Grace was 32, she second married **Richard Hall** in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire. The marriage was registered in 3q 1968 Stratford 9c 3221. Richard and grace had a son and a daughter.

33. Rex Alfred Warburton (*Charles Owen*⁵, *James*⁴, *Richard*³, *William*², *William*¹). Rex Alfred was born in Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire, on 14 Aug 1915. Rex Alfred died in Thames-Coromandel, Waikato, New Zealand, on 13 Apr 2001.

Rex's birth was registered in 3q 1915 Stratford 6d 1504, mother's maiden name Aubrey.

In 1939 when Rex Alfred was 23, he married **Betty A Bird**. The marriage was registered in 3q 1939 Wirral 8a 1908.

They had the following children:

 Juliet Ceretha Warburton. Juliet Ceretha was born in Shipston on Stour, Warwickshire, on 26 Nov 1941. Juliet Ceretha died in Jul 2001.

In 1965 when Juliet Ceretha was 23, she first married **Douglas Haig**. Douglas and Juliet had a daughter, Susan Virginia who died on 29th October 1988 in Tuakau, New Zealand, plus 2 sons.

Juliet Ceretha second married Christopher Colin Ralfe.

Christopher recently died.

 Rosalind Margaret Warburton. Rosalind Margaret was born in Houston, Scotland, on 4 Jul 1945.

On 16 Dec 1967 when Rosalind Margaret was 22, she first married **John Rex Kenny** in Taradale, All Saints, Hawkes Bay, New Zealand. John and Rosalind had a son and two daughters. The marriage was dissolved.

On 13 Mar 1993 when Rosalind Margaret was 47, she second married **Thomas Murray Cunningham** in Auckland, New Zealand. Thomas Murray died on 20 Dec 2011.

Descendants of William Warburton & Margaret Barlow Seventh Generation

34. John Henry Warburton (*John*⁶, *John*⁵, *James*⁴, *John*³, *George*², *William*¹). John Henry was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, on 11 Dec 1872. ■ Census for North Kingstown, Rhode Island, on 19 Jun 1900. John H (27) is a piano tuner living in a rented house with Sarah (32) a weaver, and Earl (5). John and Sarah have been married 5 years and had one child. As Sarah's date of birth matches that of Laura on her grave stone it is assumed Sarah and Laura are the same person and Sarah was entered in error. John Henry died on 30 Oct 1933. He was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

John's birth was registered in 1q 1873 Melksham 5a 124, mother's maiden name Gerrish.

John Henry married **Laura A Huling**. Laura A was born on 2 Oct 1867. Laura A died on 16 Oct 1959. She was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

They had one child:

 Earl James Warburton. Earl James was born in North Kingstown, Rhode Island, on 30 Apr 1895. Earl James died on 4 Feb 1986. He was buried in Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island.

It is noted on Find A Grave that he was divorced according to the 1930 census, but his spouse's name is unknown.

35. James Frederick Warburton (Alma⁶, John⁵, James⁴, John³, George², William¹). James Frederick was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1875. ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1901. James (25) is a carpenter living at 26 Mount Pleasant with his mother Alma Wright (44) a laundress. ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1911. James (34) is a carpenter builder living at 24 Ashton Street with Beatrice Florence (29), Florence Evelyn (3) and Beatrice May (18 mths). James and Beatrice have been married 3 years and had 2 children. James Frederick died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1958.

James's birth was registered in 4q 1875 Melksham 5a 120. His mother's maiden name isn't shown on gro.gov. His death was registered in 3q 1958 Trowbridge 7c 463, aged 82.

In 1907 when James Frederick was 32, he married **Beatrice Florence Eyers** in Trowbridge, Wiltshire. The marriage was registered in 2q 1907 Melksham 5a 236. Beatrice Florence was born in North Bradley, Wiltshire, in 1882. Beatrice Florence died in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1963.

Beatrice's birth was registered in 1q 1882 Westbury 5a 136. Her death was registered in 2q 1963 Trowbridge 7c 595, aged 81.

Seventh Generation

They had the following children:

 Florence Evelyn Warburton. Florence Evelyn was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1907.

Florence's birth was registered in 4q 1907 Melksham 5a 123, mother's maiden name Eyers. She has not been explored further.

ii. Beatrice May Warburton. Beatrice May was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1909.

Beatrice's birth was registered in 4q 1909 Melksham 5a 110, mother's maiden name Eyers. She has not been explored further.

iii. **John James Warburton**. John James was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, on 9 Mar 1912. John James died in May 1994.

John's birth was registered in 2q 1912 Melksham 5a 205, mother's maiden name Eyers. His death was registered in May 1994 Warminster 9D 7981, aged 82.

In 1935 when John James was 22, he married **Dorothy Irene Potter** in Westbury, Wiltshire. The marriage was registered in 1q 1935 Westbury 5a 227. John and Dorothy had 3 sons, including the grandfather of my contact Rosie Warburton. He in turn had 3 sons and a daughter. Dorothy Irene was born on 15 Apr 1915. ■ Census for Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1939. Dorothy is living at 13 Bradley Road with two persons whose records are closed (her sons). Husband John is not present and hasn't been found in the Register. Dorothy Irene died in Nov 1990.

Dorothy's death was registered in Nov 1990 Warminster 23 2597, aged 75.

iv. George Frederick Warburton. George Frederick was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1914.

George's birth was registered in 1q 1914 Melksham 5a 182, mother's maiden name Eyers. He hasn't been explored further.

v. Margaret L Warburton. Margaret L was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1919.

Margaret's birth was registered in 4q 1919 Melksham 5a 197, mother's maiden name Eyers. She has not been explored further

vi. Edith AE Warburton. Edith AE was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1921.

Edith's birth was registered in 2q 1921 Melksham 5a 188, mother's maiden name Eyers. She has not been explored further.

vii. Joyce M Warburton. Joyce M was born in Trowbridge, Wiltshire, in 1924.

Joyce's birth was registered in 3q 1924 Melksham 5a 157, mother's maiden name Eyers. She has not been explored further.

Seventh Generation

Glyde was born in Hornsey, Middlesex, in 1897. Alan Glyde died in 1967.

Alan's birth was registered in 3q 1897 Edmonton 3a 358, mother's maiden name Gregory. His death was registered in 1q 1967 St Marylebone 5d 891, aged 69. He has not been explored further.

In 1924 when Alan Glyde was 27, he married **Marie E Damant** in London. The marriage was registered in 1q 1924 Edmonton 3a 917. Apart from David, no children were registered with a mother's maiden name of Daman(t).

They had one child:

i. **David John Warburton**. David John was born in London in 1928. David John died in Doune, Sterlingshire, on 12 Jan 2016.

David's birth was registered in 1q 1928 Barnet 3a 705, mother's maiden name Daman (sic).

His death was notified in The Stirling Observer 15 Jan 2016:

WARBURTON - DAVID JOHN, who has lived in Doune since 1969, died in his sleep on the 12th of January 2016, aged 88. He was never a man who placed emphasis on ceremony and bearing that in mind his family have decided not to hold a funeral service. He will, of course, be much missed by his wife Jean, his daughters, his son and four grandchildren.

P	lace	Index	
Abingdon, Berkshire		Camden Town, Middlesex	
Johnson, Lacey Robert	21	Warburton, Henry Gideon	28
Warburton, Robert	42	Warburton, Herbert	41
Webster, Annie	42	Canterbury, Kent	
Williams, Edward	22	Warburton, Hannah Edith	30
Alkrington, Lancashire		Chatham, Kent	
Warburton, George	6	Dorrell, Edward	31
Alton, Staffordshire		Warburton, Henrietta	31
Warburton, James	20	Warburton, Margaret Elizabeth	31
Auckland, New Zealand		Chew Moor, Lostock, Lancashire	
Cunningham, Thomas Murray	48	Warburton, James Richard	24
Warburton, Rosalind Margaret	48	Warburton, Mary	24
Barnsley, Yorkshire		Warburton, Percy	37
Warburton, Elizabeth	22	Warburton, Samuel	24
Warburton, Hannah	22	Warburton, Sarah Jane	24
Barrow-in-Furness, Lancashire		Winward, Elizabeth	23
Kirkham, Rebecca	38	City of London	
Potter, Florence Mary	38	Warburton, John	18
Warburton, Clifford	38	Warburton, Lydia	18
Warburton, Edna	38	Clifford Chambers, Gloucestershire	
Warburton, Gladys	38	Lively, William	37
Warburton, Percy	37	Coupe Green, Higher Walton, Lancashire	
Barrow, St John, Lancashire		Warburton, Percy	37
Potter, Florence Mary	38	Croydon, Surrey	
Warburton, Clifford	38	Warburton, Robert	42
Berkshire		Cumnor, Oxford	
Chandler, Mollie Maureen	45	Warburton, Helen Jill Maureen	46
Warburton, Arthur Lionel	45	Dartford, Kent	
Bicknor, Kent		Warburton, Robert	29
Featherstone, John Thomas	30	Deane, St Mary, Bolton, Lancashire	
Botley, Oxfordshire		Reason, Alice	20
Milsted, Annie Elizabeth	45	Warburton, James	20
Bradfield, Berkshire		Doune, Sterlingshire	
Richardson, Hedley Thomas	22	Warburton, David John	51
Woodley, Cyril F	44	Dover, Kent	
Bradshawgate Wesleyan Church, Bolton,		Grey, Ann Jane	28
Lancashire		Durham	
Unsworth, Sarah	24	Kitchen, Mary Hester	21
Warburton, Samuel	23	Warburton, James	20

	Place	Index	
Durham cont.		Hackney, Middlesex	
Warburton, Thomas Ernest	31	Richardson, Hedley Thomas	22
Eccles, St Mary the Virgin, Lancashire		Halliwell, Lancashire	
Chadderton, Mary	19	Reason, Alice	20
Openshaw, Mary	13	Harpurhey, Lancashire	
Warburton, Joseph	19	Chadderton, Mary	19
Warburton, Richard	12	Warburton, Jane	20
Elm Grove Cemetary, Rhode Island		Haslingden, Lancashire	
Marion K	41	Warburton, James	7
Arnold, James Burrill	40	Haslingden, St James, Lancashire	
Gerrish, Jane	39	Warburton, James	7
Huling, Laura A	49	Haverfordwest, Dyfed	
Phillips, Alvin T	41	Warburton, Richard C	47
Warburton, Charles	41	Henlow, Bedfordshire	
Warburton, Earl James	49	Turner, Jane Eliza	18
Warburton, Emily	40	Warburton, Manoah	18
Warburton, Fanny Millgrove	40	Higher Walton, Preston, Lancashire	
Warburton, John	39	Warburton, Samuel	38
Warburton, John Henry	49	Hillingdon County Hospital, Middlesex	
Warburton, Rosina	41	Warburton, Robert	42
Warburton, Sydney	40	Hope Valley, Rhode Island	
Warburton, William	40	Warburton, Rosina	41
Exeter, Rhode Island		Hope, Flintshire	
Arnold, James Burrill	40	Warburton, Maria Ann	21
Farnworth, Lancashire		Warburton, Mary Ester	21
Openshaw, Mary	13	Hornsey, Middlesex	
Freshford, Somerset		Warburton, Alan Glyde	50
Webb, Elizabeth	27	Houston, Scotland	
Gillingham, Kent		Warburton, Rosalind Margaret	48
Featherstone, John Thomas	30	Islington, Middlesex	
Glossop, Derbyshire		Warburton, Gideon	17
Warburton, Eliza	20	Kearsley, Lancashire	
Warburton, Enoch	20	Bennett, Esther	12
Warburton, Samuel	20	Warburton, James	20
Goring by Sea, West Sussex		Warburton, Margaret	14
Warburton, Margaret Rebecca	43	Warburton, Peter	13
Grimsby, Lincolnshire		Warburton, Richard	12
Summerskill, Thomas Alfred	22	Warburton, Robert	29
		Warburton, Samuel	23

	- Place	Index	
Kearsley, Lancashire cont.		Montréal, Quebec, Canada	
Warburton, Sarah Ellen	14	Warburton, Maria Ann	21
Warburton, Thomas	13	Muswell Hill, Middlesex	
Kentish Town, London		Warburton, Herbert	41
Gregory, Edith Mary	42	North Bradley, Wiltshire	
Kersal, Lancashire		Eyers, Beatrice Florence	49
Warburton, Robert	6	North Hinksey, Oxfordshire	
Warburton, William	5	Turnbull, Margaret Elizabeth Mary	46
Warburton, William	5	Warburton, William Clayton	46
Leamington, Warwickshire		North Kingstown, Rhode Island	
Aubrey, Sarah Ann	36	Arnold, James Burrill	40
Warburton, Dorothy	36	Boyce, William James	40
Warburton, Marjorie	36	Gerrish, Jane	39
Warburton, Richard Ernest	35	Warburton, Earl James	49
Warburton, Ruby	36	Warburton, Fanny Millgrove	40
Little Lever, St Matthew, Lancashire		Warburton, John	39
Openshaw, Mary	13	Warburton, John Henry	49
London		Onterio, Canada	
Damant, Marie E	51	Summerskill, Thomas Alfred	22
Warburton, Alan Glyde	50	Warburton, Hannah	22
Warburton, David John	51	Oxford, Oxfordshire	
Long Wittenham, Berkshire		Aldridge, Caroline May	44
Warburton, Charles	44	Brice, Sarah	32
Lostock, Lancashire		Hounslow, Louisa Laura	43
Warburton, Samuel	23	Turnbull, Margaret Elizabeth Mary	46
Malling, Kent		Warburton, Arthur Lionel	45
Featherstone, John Thomas	30	Warburton, Bertie	45
Warburton, Hannah Edith	30	Warburton, Constance	32
Manchester Cathedral, Lancashire		Warburton, Olive Maude	44
Chadderton, Mary	19	Warburton, Thomas Claude	44
Manchester, Lancashire		Warburton, Thomas Ernest	31
Warburton, Joseph	19	Warburton, Thomas James	43
Michael Sobell House, Oxford, Oxford	shire	Warburton, William Clayton	46
Chandler, Mollie Maureen	45	Oxfordshire	
Middleton, St Leonard, Lancashire		Ansell, Humphrey S J	45
Tweedall, Hannah	15	Warburton, Barbara Joan (Geda)	45
Warburton, George	6	Paddington, Middlesex	
Warburton, Robert	6	Smith, Mary	34
Warburton, William	15	Warburton, Eric Jackson	34

P	lace	Index	
Peace Dale, Rhode Island		Radcliffe, Lancashire	
Gavitt, George Burnside	40	Barlow, Margaret	4
Warburton, Clara Millgrove	40	Pollett, Mary	6
Pilkington, Lancashire		Sandford, Lydia	10
Warburton, James	7	Warburton, Alice	4
Warburton, James	16	Warburton, Anne	4
Warburton, Rachel	11	Warburton, Betty	13
Warburton, Sarah	7	Warburton, George	5
Warburton, William	5	Warburton, Hester	4
Warburton, William	15	Warburton, James	4
Plumstead, Kent		Warburton, John	4
Warburton, Robert	42	Warburton, Joseph	19
Plymouth, Devon		Warburton, Margaret	4
Potter, Florence Mary	38	Warburton, Mary	4
Portage La Prairie, Manitoba		Warburton, William	4
Condell, Thomas Hurdis	21	Warburton, William	6
Warburton, Mary Ester	21	Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire	
Prestwich, Lancashire		Barlow, Margaret	4
Sandford, Lydia	10	Bennett, Esther	12
Warburton, John	10	Warburton, Alice	4
Warburton, William	5	Warburton, Anne	4
Prestwich, St Mary, Lancashire		Warburton, Betty	7
Astley, Alice	12	Warburton, Betty	13
Hardy, Elisabeth (Betty)	6	Warburton, David	9
Sligoe, Esther	5	Warburton, George	5
Warburton, George	5	Warburton, George	8
Warburton, James	7	Warburton, Hannah	13
Warburton, John	10	Warburton, Hester	4
Warburton, Peggy	5	Warburton, James	4
Warburton, Ralph	5	Warburton, John	4
Warburton, Ralph	11	Warburton, John	7
Warburton, Sarah	5	Warburton, John	13
Warburton, Sarah	7	Warburton, Joseph	19
Warburton, William	5	Warburton, Margaret	4
Warburton, William	5	Warburton, Mary	4
Radclife, Stand Lane Chapel, Lancashire		Warburton, Mary	13
Warburton, Betty	12	Warburton, Peter	8
Warburton, Simeon	12	Warburton, Peter	13
		Warburton, Richard	12

	Place	index	
Radcliffe, St Mary, Lancashire cont.		Rochdale, Hope Chapel, Lancashire con	nt.
Warburton, Samuel	7	Warburton, Samuel	16
Warburton, Samuel	8	Warburton, Sarah	16
Warburton, Sarah	7	Rochdale, Lancashire	
Warburton, Thomas	13	Tweedall, Hannah	15
Warburton, William	4	Warburton, Gideon	17
Warburton, William	6	Warburton, Lydia	16
Warburton, William	15	Warburton, Ruth	11
Reading, Berkshire		Warburton, William	15
Archard, Catherine Jesse	34	Rochdale, St Chad, Lancashire	
Chandler, Mollie Maureen	45	Smith, David	16
Kitchen, Mary Hester	21	Warburton, Hannah	16
Phillips, Annie Emma	33	Rochester, Kent	
Warburton, Eric Jackson	34	Barrett, Albert	30
Warburton, Gladys Ethel	34	Warburton, Robert	29
Warburton, Grace Euphemia	34	Rochester, St Bartholomew Hospital, K	ent
Warburton, Helen Jill Maureen	46	Warburton, Ellen	31
Warburton, Henry Selwyn	35	Rodmersham, Kent	
Warburton, Ivy Kathleen	35	Barrett, Albert	30
Warburton, Joseph	33	Warburton, Alice	30
Warburton, Rita May	44	Ruislip, Middlesex	
Warburton, Victor William	35	Warburton, Robert	42
Warburton, Violet Hilda	34	Sanford-on-Thames, Oxfordshire	
Warburton, William Henry	34	Brice, Sarah	32
Woodley, Cyril F	44	Warburton, Laura	32
Rhode Island		Warburton, Thomas Ernest	31
Phillips, Alvin T	41	Seal, Kent	
Ringley, Lancashire		Pearch, Herbert	31
Warburton, Mary	13	Shipston on Stour, Warwickshire	
Ringley, St Saviour, Lancashire		Warburton, Juliet Ceretha	48
Warburton, James	20	Simmondley, Derbyshire	
Warburton, Margaret	14	Openshaw, Mary	13
Warburton, Samuel	23	Sittingbourne, Kent	
Warburton, Sarah Ellen	14	Warburton, Alice	30
Riverside Cemetery, Rhode Island		Smedley, Manchester, Lancashire	
Warburton, Clara Millgrove	40	Warburton, Henry	20
Rochdale, Hope Chapel, Lancashire		Snodland, Kent	
Warburton, Hannah	16	Warburton, Henrietta	31
Warburton, Lydia	16	Warburton, Robert	29

	 Place 	Index	
Soho, Middlesex		Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire c	ont.
Warburton, Robert Henry	43	Parker, Phillip A	47
South Kingstown, Rhode Island		Randle, George E	37
Gavitt, George Burnside	40	Warburton, Ceretha	37
Warburton, Clara Millgrove	40	Warburton, Charles Aubrey	46
Southill, Bedfordshire		Warburton, Charles Owen	36
Warburton, Ebenezer	18	Warburton, Constance Audrey	37
Warburton, Elizabeth	19	Warburton, Grace	47
Warburton, John	17	Warburton, John Francis O	37
Warburton, Manoah	18	Warburton, Mona Eileen	37
Warburton, Phineas	18	Warburton, Rex Alfred	47
Warburton, Ruth	19	Strood Cemetery, Kent	
Warburton, William	18	Dorrell, Edward	31
Southwark, Surrey		Warburton, Frances Ann	30
Warburton, Robert Henry	43	Strood, Kent	
Spotland, Lancashire		Dorrell, Edward	31
Warburton, William	15	Pearch, Herbert	31
St Ebbe, Oxford, Oxfordshire		Warburton, Ellen	31
Warburton, Thomas Ernest	31	Warburton, Frances Ann	30
St Pancras, Middlesex		Warburton, Robert	29
Warburton, Alice	29	Webster, Ann	29
Warburton, Edith	29	Sutton Courtenay, Berkshire	
Warburton, Gideon	17	Warburton, Alice	30
St Pancras, Old Church, Middlesex		Warburton, Charles Owen	36
Belson, Susannah	11	Warburton, Florence Jane	22
Grey, Ann Jane	28	Warburton, Hannah Edith	30
Warburton, Henry Gideon	28	Warburton, James	20
Warburton, Manoah	11	Warburton, James	22
St Thomas, Oxford, Oxfordshire		Warburton, John Bennett	22
Aldridge, Caroline May	44	Warburton, Mary Ester	32
Staines, Middlesex		Warburton, Richard Ernest	35
Warburton, Ellen	31	Warburton, Robert	29
Stand, All Saints, Lancashire		Warburton, Robert	42
Warburton, Ralph	11	Warburton, Thomas James	43
Steventon, Berkshire		Warburton, William Henry	34
Webster, Ann	29	Webster, Ann	29
Stratford upon Avon, Warwickshire		Swindon, Wiltshire	
Hall, Richard	47	Warburton, John Bennett	22
Lively, William	37		

Taradala All Sainte Hawkee Bay No		Index Trowbridge St James Wiltshire con	.+
Taradale, All Saints, Hawkes Bay, Ne	w	Trowbridge, St James, Wiltshire con	it. 17
Zealand Venny John Day	40	Warburton, John	
Kenny, John Rex	48	Warburton, John	39
Warburton, Rosalind Margaret	48	Warburton, Leah	11
Thames-Coromandel, Waikato, New 2		Webb, Elizabeth	27
Warburton, Rex Alfred	47	Trowbridge, Wiltshire	4.0
Thatcham, Berkshire		Edwards, Martha	16
Warburton, Joseph	33	Eyers, Beatrice Florence	49
Tiverton, Devon		Gerrish, Jane	39
Warburton, Grace	47	Millgrove, Elizabeth	25
Trowbridge Cemetery, Wiltshire		Potter, Dorothy Irene	50
Millgrove, Elizabeth	25	Sandford, Lydia	10
Sandford, Lydia	10	Warburton, Alma	41
Warburton, John	10	Warburton, Ann	28
Warburton, John	25	Warburton, Ann	28
Trowbridge, Baptist Ministry, Wiltshi	re	Warburton, Beatrice May	50
Warburton, Elizabeth	11	Warburton, Charles	41
Warburton, Gideon	17	Warburton, Clara Millgrove	40
Warburton, James	16	Warburton, Edith AE	50
Warburton, James	27	Warburton, Elizabeth	11
Warburton, John	17	Warburton, Ellen	26
Warburton, John	25	Warburton, Emily	40
Warburton, Leah	11	Warburton, Emma	26
Warburton, Manoah	11	Warburton, Fanny Millgrove	40
Warburton, Rachel	11	Warburton, Florence Evelyn	50
Warburton, Rhoda	11	Warburton, Frank	26
Warburton, Ruth	11	Warburton, Frederick	26
Trowbridge, Holy Trinity, Wiltshire		Warburton, Frederick	26
Millgrove, Elizabeth	25	Warburton, George	26
Warburton, John	25	Warburton, George	41
Trowbridge, St James, Wiltshire		Warburton, George Frederick	50
Edwards, Martha	16	Warburton, James	16
Gerrish, Jane	39	Warburton, James	27
Hayward, John	11	Warburton, James	28
Moore, Isaac	11	Warburton, James Frederick	49
Rudman, Emma	17	Warburton, John	10
Warburton, Elizabeth	11	Warburton, John	17
Warburton, James	16	Warburton, John	25
Warburton, James	27	Warburton, John	39

Ρ	lace	Index	
Trowbridge, Wiltshire cont.		Warwick, Warwickshire	
Warburton, John Henry	49	Aubrey, Sarah Ann	36
Warburton, John James	50	Warburton, Charles Owen	36
Warburton, Joyce M	50	Warburton, Richard C	47
Warburton, Kate	28	Wellingborough, Northamptonshire	
Warburton, Leah	11	Warburton, John Bennett	22
Warburton, Manoah	11	Westbury, Wiltshire	
Warburton, Manoah	26	Potter, Dorothy Irene	50
Warburton, Margaret L	50	Warburton, John James	50
Warburton, Mary Jane	41	Westhoughton, Lancashire	
Warburton, Reuben	28	Unsworth, Sarah	24
Warburton, Rhoda	26	Warburton, Samuel	23
Warburton, Rosina	41	Westhoughton, St John, Lancashire	
Warburton, Sydney	40	Warburton, Samuel	23
Warburton, William	40	Winward, Elizabeth	23
Webb, Elizabeth	27	Westminster, Middlesex	
Wright, William	41	Bannister, George W	43
Upper Norwood, Surrey		Warburton, Margaret Rebecca	43
Warburton, Margaret Rebecca	43	Westminster, St Marylebone, Middlesex	
Vancouver, British Columbia		Warburton, Gideon	17
Richardson, Hedley Thomas	22	Wigley, Ann Ellis	17
Warburton, Florence Jane	22	Whitefield, Lancashire	
Warburton, James	22	Warburton, Alice	12
Vancouver, Mountainview Cemetery, BC		Warburton, Betty	7
Warburton, James	22	Warburton, Betty	12
Walton Le Dale, Lancashire		Warburton, David	9
Warburton, Samuel	23	Warburton, George	5
Walton Paridh Church, Lancashire		Warburton, George	8
Kirkham, Rebecca	38	Warburton, James	12
Warburton, Percy	37	Warburton, John	10
Wardleworth, Lancashire		Warburton, John	7
Tweedall, Hannah	15	Warburton, Peggy	5
Warburton, Hannah	16	Warburton, Peter	8
Warburton, Lydia	16	Warburton, Ralph	5
Warburton, Samuel	16	Warburton, Ralph	11
Warburton, Sarah	16	Warburton, Richard	12
Warburton, William	15	Warburton, Samuel	7
Warrington, Lancashire		Warburton, Samuel	8
Jakeman, John Frederick	32	Warburton, Sarah	5

	Place Index	
Whitefield, Lancashire cont.		
Warburton, Sarah	7	
Warburton, Sarah	12	
Warburton, Simeon	12	
Whitfield, Glossop, Derbyshire		
Warburton, Joseph	19	
Witney, Oxfordshire		
Brice, Sarah	32	
Wolverhampton, Staffordshire		
Warburton, Henry Gideon	28	
Wraysbury, Buckinghamshire		
Warburton, Frances Ann	30	
Warburton, Margaret Elizabeth	31	
Warburton, Robert	29	

	Persor	n Index	
Marion K (1867 - 1935)	41	Damant	
unknown father	41	Marie E	51
Aldridge		Daniels	
Caroline May (1885 - 1970)	44	Dorothy F	37
Ansell		Donovan	
Humphrey S J	45	Daniel J	32
Archard		Dorrell	
Catherine Jesse (1870 - 1954)	34	Edward (1881 - 1959)	31
Arnold		Edwards	
James Burrill (1824 - 1902)	40	Ernest A S	34
Astley		Martha (~1795 - 1868)	16
Alice	12	Eyers	
Aubrey		Beatrice Florence (1882 - 1963)	49
Sarah Ann (1879 -)	36	Featherstone	
Bannister		John Thomas (1875 - 1936)	30
George W	43	Francis	
Barlow		Mr	46
Margaret (~1725 -)	4	Gavitt	
Barrett		George Burnside (1862 - 1944)	40
Albert (1873 - 1943)	30	Gerrish	
Belson		Jane (1840 - 1902)	39
Susannah	11	Gorton	
Bennett		Margaret E	41
Esther (~1785 - 1834)	12	Gregory	
Bird		Edith Mary (~1868 -)	42
Betty A	47	Grey	
Boyce		Ann Jane (~1835 -)	28
William James (1861 - 1922)	40	Haig	
Brice		Douglas	48
Sarah (1858 - 1939)	32	Hall	
Chadderton		Richard	47
Mary (1820 -)	19	Hardy	
Chandler		Elisabeth (Betty)	6
Mollie Maureen (1905 - 1978)	45	Hayward	
Condell		John	11
Thomas Hurdis (- 1904)	21	Hounslow	
Cunningham		Louisa Laura (1878 - 1958)	43
Thomas Murray (- 2011)	48	Huling	
		Laura A (1867 - 1959)	49

	Person	Index	
Jakeman		Randle	
John Frederick (1878 - 1963)	32	George E	37
Johnson		Reason	
Lacey Robert (1855 -)	21	Alice (~1827 - 1852)	20
Verney G	46	Richardson	
Kenny		Hedley Thomas (1858 - 1922)	22
John Rex	48	Rudman	
Kirkham		Emma	17
Rebecca (1881 - 1949)	38	Sandford	
Kitchen		Lydia (~1777 - 1862)	10
Mary Hester (1835 - 1888)	21	Sligoe	
Lively		Esther (- <1790)	5
William (1904 -)	37	Smith	
Looker		David	16
Elizabeth (Lizzie)	35	Mary	34
Millgrove		Summerskill	
Elizabeth (~1819 - 1894)	25	Thomas Alfred (1859 -)	22
Milsted		Turnbull	
Annie Elizabeth (1892 -)	45	Margaret Elizabeth Mary (- 2011)	46
Moore		Turner	
Isaac	11	Jane Eliza	18
Openshaw		Tweedall	
Mary (1802 -)	13	Hannah (~1797 - 1859)	15
Parker		Unsworth	
Phillip A	47	Sarah (~1853 -)	24
Pearch		Waltham	
Herbert (1881 - 1959)	31	Edward T	35
Phillips		Warburton	
Alvin T (1867 - 1932)	41	Alan Glyde (1897 - 1967)	50
Annie Emma (~1870 - 1943)	33	Alice (1757 -)	4
Pitfield		Alice (~1821 -)	12
UNNAMED	5	Alice (1867 -)	29
Pollett		Alice (1873 - 1963)	30
Mary (1756 - 1841)	6	Alma (1855 -)	41
Potter		Ann (1846 -)	28
Dorothy Irene (1915 - 1990)	50	Ann (1849 -)	28
Florence Mary (1916 - 2006)	38	Anne (1754 -)	4
Ralfe		Arthur Lionel (1898 - 1952)	45
Christopher Colin	48	Barbara Joan (Geda) (1915 - 1979)	45

Person Index —

Varburton cont.	'	Warburton cont.	
Beatrice May (1909 -)	50	Frederick (1840 - 1853)	26
Bertie (1889 - 1955)	45	Frederick (1858 -)	26
Betty (1789 - 1795)	7	George (1749 - 1796)	5
Betty (1814 -)	13	George (1791 -)	6
Betty (1815 -)	12	George (1792 -)	8
Ceretha (1906 - 1989)	37	George (1853 -)	26
Charles (1867 - 1900)	41	George (1871 -)	41
Charles (~1898 -)	44	George Frederick (1914 -)	50
Charles Aubrey (1909 - 1954)	46	Gideon (1808 - 1879)	17
Charles Owen (1875 - 1943)	36	Gladys (1916 -)	38
Clara Millgrove (1861 - 1927)	40	Gladys Ethel (1891 -)	34
Clifford (1911 - 1974)	38	Grace (1935 - 2004)	47
Constance (1885 - 1965)	32	Grace Euphemia (1897 -)	34
Constance Audrey (1904 - 1963)	37	Hannah (1808 -)	13
David (1800 -)	9	Hannah (1824 -)	16
David John (1928 - 2016)	51	Hannah (~1864 -)	22
Dorothy (1901 -)	36	Hannah Edith (1876 - 1966)	30
Earl James (1895 - 1986)	49	Helen Jill Maureen (1937 - 1993)	46
Ebenezer (1846 -)	18	Henrietta (1890 - 1960)	31
Edith (~1864 -)	29	Henry (1844 -)	20
Edith AE (1921 -)	50	Henry Gideon (~1832 - 1872)	28
Edna (1918 -)	38	Henry Selwyn (1903 - 1952)	35
Eliza (1851 -)	20	Herbert (1868 -)	41
Elizabeth (1801 -)	11	Hester (1765 -)	4
Elizabeth (1859 -)	19	lvy Kathleen (1906 - 1969)	35
Elizabeth (1862 -)	22	James (1753 -)	4
Ellen (1846 -)	26	James (1784 - 1851)	7
Ellen (1886 - 1964)	31	James (1800 - 1874)	16
Emily (1857 - 1936)	40	James (~1809 -)	12
Emma (1848 -)	26	James (1825 - 1892)	27
Enoch (1849 -)	20	James (1826 - 1879)	20
Eric Jackson (1905 -)	34	James (1851 -)	28
Ernest (1884 - 1942)	44	James (1867 - 1951)	22
Fanny Millgrove (1859 - 1912)	40	James Frederick (1875 - 1958)	49
Florence Evelyn (1907 -)	50	James Richard (1886 -)	24
Florence Jane (1873 -)	22	Jane (1838 -)	20
Frances Ann (1880 - 1955)	30	John (1769 -)	4
Frank (1861 -)	26	John (1776 - 1857)	10

Person Index —

Person Index				
Warburton cont.	· ·	Warburton cont.		
John (1786 -)	7	Percy (1883 - 1955)	37	
John (1810 - 1812)	13	Peter (1798 -)	8	
John (1815 - 1892)	17	Peter (1823 - 1829)	13	
John (1819 - 1899)	25	Phineas (1852 -)	18	
John (1838 - 1906)	39	Rachel (1806 -)	11	
John (1840 -)	18	Ralph (1774 - 1776)	5	
John Bennett (1878 - 1946)	22	Ralph (1780 - 1848)	11	
John Francis O (1917 - 1991)	37	Reuben (1861 - 1907)	28	
John Henry (1872 - 1933)	49	Rex Alfred (1915 - 2001)	47	
John James (1912 - 1994)	50	Rhoda (1817 - 1820)	11	
Joseph (1816 -)	19	Rhoda (1844 -)	26	
Joseph (1866 - 1939)	33	Richard (1785 -)	12	
Joyce M (1924 -)	50	Richard C (1934 - 2001)	47	
Juliet Ceretha (1941 - 2001)	48	Richard E (1917 -)	44	
Kate (1865 -)	28	Richard Ernest (1871 - 1916)	35	
Laura (1882 - 1942)	32	Rita May (1910 - 1984)	44	
Leah (1804 -)	11	Robert (1793 -)	6	
Lydia (1826 -)	16	Robert (1850 - 1928)	29	
Lydia (1843 -)	18	Robert (1877 - 1949)	42	
Manoah (1811 - 1839)	11	Robert Henry (1907 - 1919)	43	
Manoah (1849 - 1938)	18	Rosalind Margaret (1945 -)	48	
Manoah (1850 - 1920)	26	Rosina (1869 - 1953)	41	
Margaret (1759 -)	4	Ruby (1905 - 1995)	36	
Margaret (1838 -)	14	Ruth (1813 -)	11	
Margaret Elizabeth (1883 - 1944)	31	Ruth (1855 -)	19	
Margaret L (1919 -)	50	Samuel (~1788 - 1795)	7	
Margaret Rebecca (1909 - 1992)	43	Samuel (1795 -)	8	
Maria Ann (1857 - 1940)	21	Samuel (1830 -)	16	
Marjorie (1903 - 1985)	36	Samuel (1841 - 1907)	23	
Mary (1751 -)	4	Samuel (1847 -)	20	
Mary (1820 -)	13	Samuel (1882 -)	24	
Mary (1880 -)	24	Samuel (1908 - 1965)	38	
Mary Ester (1858 - 1936)	21	Sarah (1772 -)	5	
Mary Ester (1877 -)	32	Sarah (1790 - 1850)	7	
Mary Jane (1866 -)	41	Sarah (~1823 -)	12	
Mona Eileen (1911 - 1913)	37	Sarah (1828 -)	16	
Olive Maude (1904 -)	44	Sarah Ellen (1845 -)	14	
Peggy (1778 -)	5	Sarah Jane (1885 -)	24	

	Person Index
Warburton cont.	
Simeon (1815 -)	12
Sydney (1864 - 1914)	40
Thomas (1818 -)	13
Thomas Claude (1909 -)	44
Thomas Ernest (1855 - 1901)	31
Thomas James (1878 - 1928)	43
Victor William (1908 - 1956)	35
Violet Hilda (1893 -)	34
William (~1718 - 1777)	4
William (1762 - 1837)	6
William (1782 - 1783)	5
William (1784 - 1863)	5
William (1796 - 1864)	15
William (1848 - 1848)	18
William (1863 - 1933)	40
William Clayton (1943 - 2011)	46
William Henry (1869 - 1935)	34
Webb	
Elizabeth (~1827 - 1899)	27
Webster	
Ann (~1853 - 1928)	29
Annie (1879 -)	42
Wigley	
Ann Ellis	17
Williams	
Edward (~1860 -)	22
Winward	
Elizabeth (1852 - 1889)	23
Woodley	
Cyril F (1910 - 1998)	44
Wright	
James Thomas (1881 -)	32
William	41